
MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 27th March 2019

TIME: 6.30 pm

VENUE: Town Hall, Bootle

Member

Councillor

Substitute

Councillor
Cllr. Daren Veidman (Chair)
Cllr. Michael O'Brien (Vice-Chair)
Cllr. Nigel Ashton
Cllr. Janis Blackburne
Cllr. Denise Dutton
Cllr. Terry Jones
Cllr. John Kelly
Cllr. Bob McCann
Cllr. Brenda O'Brien
Cllr. Pat O'Hanlon
Cllr. Diane Roscoe
Cllr. Paula Spencer
Cllr. Carla Thomas
Cllr. Lynne Thompson
Cllr. Paul Tweed

Cllr. June Burns
Cllr. Leslie Byrom C.B.E.
Cllr. John Dodd
Cllr. John Sayers
Cllr. Simon Jamieson
Cllr. Tony Brough
Cllr. Linda Cluskey
Cllr. Matt Gannon
Cllr. Janet Grace
Cllr Matt Gannon
Cllr. Anne Thompson
Cllr. Steve McGinnity
Cllr. Gordon Friel
Cllr John Dodd
Cllr. Catie Page

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby
Telephone: 0151 943 2181
E-mail: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 March 2019 (Pages 5 - 10)

4.  Applications for Planning Permission - Petitions

A DC/2018/02199 - Land Rear of 1 To 93 Runnells Lane, 
Crosby  

(Pages 11 - 38)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

5.  Applications for Planning Permission - Approvals

A DC/2017/00434 - Land North of Lydiate Lane, 
Thornton  

(Pages 39 - 62)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer 

B DC/2019/00049 - 18-20 Hawthorne Road, Bootle  (Pages 63 - 70)
Report of the Chief Planning Officer 

6.  Visiting Panel (Pages 71 - 72)
Visiting Panel Schedule

7.  Planning Appeals Report (Pages 73 - 80)
Report of the Chief Planning Officer



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

57

PLANNING COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON  6 MARCH 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Veidman (in the Chair)
Councillor Michael O'Brien (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Ashton, Blackburne, Dutton, Jones, 
John Kelly, Brenda O'Brien, O'Hanlon, Roscoe, 
Spencer, Thomas, Lynne Thompson and Tweed

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors Jamieson, McCann, and Roche

104. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors McCann, and 
Gannon.

105. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

In accordance with Paragraph 9 of the Council’s Code of Conduct, the 
following declarations of personal interest were made and the Members 
concerned left the room / remained in the room during the consideration of 
the item:

 
Member Minute No. Nature of Interest
Councillor John 
Kelly

Minute No.111 
and 
DC/2018/00813 - 
Cabbage Inn, 
Fleetwoods Lane, 
Netherton,  
Bootle, L30 0QG

Prejudicial – Is a Member of the 
One Vision Housing Board. Left 
the room, took no part in the 
discussion of the item, and did not 
vote thereon.

Fiona 
Townsend, 
Legal Advisor

Minute No.107 
DC/2018/00093 - 
Land North of 
Brackenway, 
Formby

Personal – a number of years ago 
had a family relationship with one 
of the petitioners. Stayed in the 
room during the consideration of 
the item.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 6TH MARCH, 2019

58

106. MINUTES OF THE MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February, 2019 be confirmed as 
a correct record.

107. DC/2018/00093 - LAND NORTH OF BRACKENWAY, FORMBY 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer 
that recommended that the above application for Outline planning 
permission for the demolition of existing structures and construction of 
up to 286 dwellings including flood alleviation measures, extension of 
nature reserve, public open space, ground re-profiling and associated 
works. All matters are reserved except for access from the A565 and a 
new emergency vehicular/pedestrian/cycling access from Paradise 
Lane (layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for 
future consideration)  be granted subject to the conditions and for the 
reasons stated or referred to in the report.

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received petitions 
from Mrs.Bennett, Ms.White, Messrs.Baxter, Clark, Connor, Evans, Gray, 
Irving, Lyons, Roberts, Parish Councillor McCann, and Councillor 
Jamieson (as Ward Councillor) on behalf of objectors against the 
proposed development and a response from the applicant’s agents 
Mses.McFadyean, Seal, Messrs.Suckley, Whittingham, and Wooliscroft.

RESOLVED:

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to within the 
report, Late Representations, Late Representations 2, and the completion 
of a Section 106 Legal Agreement.

108. DC/2019/00091 - 17 GRANGE PARK, MAGHULL, L31 3DP 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the erection of two storey 
extensions to front, side and rear, to include Juliet balconies at first floor 
level, increase in the ridge height to incorporate rear dormers, single 
storey rear extension, and alterations to the front elevation of the dwelling 
house be refused for the reasons stated or referred to in the report.

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received a petition 
from Mrs.McGarry, the applicant, on behalf of supporters of the proposed 
development.

The Committee acknowledged the support for the  proposal from local 
residents, and particularly from the next door neighbours, and considered 
this outweighed the  reasons for refusal.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 6TH MARCH, 2019

59

RESOLVED:

That the recommendation be not approved and the application be granted.

109. DC/2018/02181 - LAND SEVERED FROM 29 MOORGATE 
AVENUE, CROSBY,  L23 0UE 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the erection of a detached 
two storey dwelling house with accommodation in the roof space be 
granted subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to 
in the report.

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received a petition 
from Miss Kelly, on behalf of objectors against the proposed development.

RESOLVED:

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to within the 
report and Late Representations.

110. DC/2018/02253 - 145 SEFTON STREET, SOUTHPORT, PR8 5DA 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer that 
recommended that the above application for the erection of a single storey 
extension to the rear of the dwellinghouse be granted subject to the 
conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to in the report.

Prior to consideration of the application, the Committee received a petition 
from Mr.Truett on behalf of objectors against the proposed development 
and a response from the applicant, Mr.Haynes.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the recommendation be approved and the application be granted 
subject to conditions and for the reasons stated or referred to within 
the report and Late Representations; and

(2) subject to an extra condition, restricting the use of the extension for 
residential use only.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 6TH MARCH, 2019

60

111. APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING PERMISSION - APPROVALS 

RESOLVED:

That the following applications be approved, subject to:-

(i) DC/2018/00813 - Cabbage Inn, Fleetwoods Lane, Netherton,  
Bootle, L30 0QG to be subject to an extra condition requiring 20% 
of the flats to be accessible for people with disabilities; 

(ii) the conditions (if any) and for the reasons stated or referred to in 
the Report of the Chief Planning Officer and/or Late 
Representations; and 

(iii) the applicants entering into any legal agreements indicated in the 
report or Late Representations:

Application No. Site

DC/2018/00813 Cabbage Inn, Fleetwoods Lane, Netherton,  
Bootle, L30 0QG

DC/2019/00004 Land adjacent to 3 and 4 Brickfield Close, 
Lydiate, L31 4FA

112. VISITING PANEL 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer which 
advised that the undermentioned sites had been inspected by the Visiting 
Panel on Monday, 4 March, 2019: 

Application No. Site

DC/2018/02181 Land Severed From 29 Moorgate Avenue, 
Crosby, L23 0UE

DC/2018/00093 Land North Of Brackenway, Formby

DC/2018/02253 145 Sefton Street, Southport, PR8 5DA

DC/2019/00004 Land Adjacent To 3 & 4 Brickfield Close, 
Lydiate, L31 4FA

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 6TH MARCH, 2019

61

DC/19/00091 17 Grange Park, Maghull, L31 3DP

DC/2018/00813 Cabbage Inn Fleetwoods Lane, Netherton
L30 0QG

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

113. PLANNING APPEALS 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer on the 
progress on appeals lodged with the Planning Inspectorate.

Appellant Proposal/Breach of Planning Control Decision

Ms. Michaela Heath DC/2018/01308 - 51 Selworthy Road, 
Birkdale, Southport, PR8 2HX - 
appeal against the Council’s refusal 
to grant planning permission for the 
Erection of 1 no dwelling and 
alterations to the existing vehicular 
access.

Dismissed
21/11/2018

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 27th March 2019

Subject: DC/2018/02199
Land Rear Of 1 To 93 Runnells Lane Crosby

Proposal: Erection of 183 dwellinghouses, vehicular access, surface water 
attenuation, public open space including play equipment, landscaping 
and ancillary infrastructure

Applicant: Barratt & David Wilson 
Homes North West

Agent: White Peak Planning 

Ward: Manor 

Summary
The proposal is for a residential development on land east of 1 to 93 Runnells Lane, and 
South of Lydiate Lane.  The development would consist of 183 new dwellings, which would 
consist of a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bed houses, two and three storey in height.   The proposals 
also include access, provision of public open space, drainage infrastructure, parking 
provision, landscaping of the site, as well as all other necessary infrastructure and 
associated works.

The site is allocated for residential development in the Sefton Local Plan. The issues for 
consideration include the principle of development, highways impacts, design and density, 
potential impact on living conditions of neighbours and future occupiers, flooding and 
drainage, levels, open space provision, affordable housing and housing mix, ecological 
issues, trees and landscaping, air quality, noise, contaminated land, heritage, housing land 
supply, energy efficiency and mineral safeguarding and education.   The report concludes 
that, subject to conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement, the 
proposals are acceptable.

Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the 
completion of a section 106 agreement securing the following:

 Provision of affordable housing within the development;

 Provision of accessible and adaptable homes within the development; 

 Provision and management of on-site public open space within the development;

 Payment of off-site public open space contribution;

Page 9

Agenda Item 4a



 Provision and management of on-site sustainable urban drainage (SUDs);

 Education contribution of £2,129.15 per dwelling (index linked for future years);

 A 50% financial contribution to the delivery of the roundabout serving the access to 
the site off Lydiate Lane, granted planning permission under DC/2018/02178, to be 
paid within 30 days of any written approach by the Council following the contract 
being let for the delivery of the roundabout

 A financial contribution of £10,000 to the development of an outline Major Scheme 
for improvement to the Buckley Hill Lane Corridor.

Case Officer Mr Rob Cooper

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications

Page 10

Agenda Item 4a

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 11

Agenda Item 4a



The Site
The application site is located to the south east of Runnell’s Lane on the edge of Thornton, 
to the north east of Crosby. The site is bounded by to the north west by the existing 
residential properties of 1 to 93 Runnells Lane, to the north east by Lydiate Lane, former 
Rushton’s Nurseries garden centre to the south west, and open fields to the south east.

History
Planning permission DC/2018/02178 granted in January 2019 for the formation of a 
vehicular and pedestrian access including a mini roundabout, raised table and ancillary 
infrastructure works.

Consultations
Local Plans Team

No objections, acceptable in principle, requirements for affordable housing, accessible and 
adaptable homes, education contributions, and securing onsite public open space and off 
site contribution to be secured by S106. 

Highways Manager

No objections subject to conditions.

Environmental Health (Air Quality)

No objection, conditions recommended in relation to electric vehicle charging, and dust 
control during construction. 

Environmental Health (Noise)

No objection, conditions recommended in relation to boundary treatments, acoustic glazing 
and ventilation.

Flooding and Drainage Manager

No objection, the submitted flood risk assessment and sustainable surface water 
management strategy is considered to be acceptable.  Conditions and S106 recommended 
securing its implementation, management and maintenance.
 
United Utilities

No objection, conditions recommended in relation to drainage. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4a



Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service

No objections subject to conditions in relation to ecological mitigation measures, 
construction environmental management plan and measures to mitigate recreational 
pressure, no tree and vegetation clearance during bird nesting season, suitable planting to 
include native species and plants that encourage red squirrels and discourage grey 
squirrels, bird nesting boxes, a scheme of investigation for archaeological work, and 
provision of a site waste management plan. 

Building Control

No comments received

Fire and Rescue Service

No objections, informative recommended for fire appliances, water supply and use of fire 
hydrants.  

Contaminated Land Officer

No objections, recommend standard conditions and informative in relation to land 
remediation.

Housing Standards Manager

No objection.  If the buildings are designed and constructed fully in accordance with 
current Building Regulations then we are unlikely to have any concerns.  

Police Architectural Liaison Officer

No comments received

Merseytravel

No comments received

Parish Council of Sefton and Lunt Villages

On Tuesday 14th August 2018 the Parish Council of Sefton and Lunt Villages met with 
representatives of Barrett David Wilson Homes at the Punch Bowl in Sefton Village to 
discuss the aforesaid application.

Following the conference an Extra Ordinary Meeting was convened and standing order 7 is 
publicly recorded as follows:

Page 13

Agenda Item 4a



7. Prior to the meeting the councillors had full and frank exchange with Barratt David 
Wilson Homes for an hour and a half. Issues raised included inter alia: infrastructure, 
schools, section 106, A5036 Port of Liverpool Access Route, health, well-being.

Resolved: This parish council unanimously opposes the development on inter alia 
the following grounds:
• Lack of infrastructure viz: schools, public transport, destination shopping, 
surgeries etc;
• Proximity to the Port of Liverpool Access Route [on grounds of the health and well- 
being of the residents];
• Flooding risk;

The Parish Council also asserts contrary to Barrett David Wilson homes that this is 
not an appropriate site for development for the matters aforesaid.

It is to be noted that the Parish Council expressed its concern that out of courtesy they had 
not been informed of discussions between Highways England and BDWH regarding the 
realignment of the A5036 to facilitate the housing estate.

Additionally, the parish council raises its deep concern for the health of the prospective 
residents living alongside the A5036 Port of Liverpool Access Route. The health 
implications were addressed to the representatives of BDWH who were impervious to the 
concerns of the council.

The council also takes issue with the only egress for this housing estate being a shared 
roundabout with the housing estate to the north of Lydiate Lane which will ultimately be in 
close proximity to the overpass spanning the A5036 Port of Liverpool Access Route.
In conclusion, the Parish Council of Sefton and Lunt Villages unanimously opposes the 
said development within the civil parish as per the convention of August 14th 2018 and 
wishes the planning committee to be alive to its concerns.

Natural England

No objections to the proposals providing the agreed mitigation can be secured.

Cadent Gas

No comments received

Page 14

Agenda Item 4a



Neighbour Representations
Letters were sent to surrounding residents, and site notices displayed in a number of 
locations around the site as well as a press notice being published in the local paper. 
Additional letters were sent to residents following amendments to the layout of the 
proposed scheme.

In response to the consultations, representations have been received from 16 individual 
local residents raising concerns in relation to loss of greenbelt, flooding and drainage 
issues, increased traffic congestion in the local area, increased air pollution and noise from 
traffic, loss of wildlife habitat, increased pressure on local Doctors surgeries, schools and 
emergency services.  

A petition has been received from 96 Sefton residents, and has been endorsed by Cllr 
Steve McGinnity.  The Petition is based on the issues of protecting the open aspect to the 
rear of properties on Runnells Lane, flooding, loss of green space, over intensification of 
housing, loss of privacy, gable ends on buildings adjacent to rear gardens causing loss of 
outlook and natural light, additional traffic generation, car parking behind people’s rear 
fences, noise and fumes from cars, loss of wildlife habitat. 

A second petition is also online at Change.org entitled ‘Stop Plans for Building on Land 
rear of 1-93 Runnells Lane’.  At the time of writing this report it had 191 online signatures.  
The reasons for this petition are flood risk, already a lot of housing planned for the area, 
new road through Rimrose Valley would cause health problems, increased traffic, loss of 
wildlife, loss of privacy and light, noise and car fumes. 

Three representations have also been sent in support of the application on the basis of the 
need for these homes in the area. 

Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area allocated for housing in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  

Assessment of the Proposal
Principle

The application site is allocated for residential development as identified by site reference 
number MN2.27 in policy MN2 of the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted in April 2017. 
As such, the principle of residential development on this site is acceptable.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4a



Highways

The application proposes vehicle access off a new roundabout on Lydiate Lane.  The 
principle of access off this roundabout has already been established, and the principle of 
this is a site specific requirement in the Local Plan, which was supported and established 
at the examination in public of the Local Plan by the Planning Inspector following the 
examination of the Local Plan.   

Furthermore the roundabout has already been subject to a separate planning permission 
(DC/2017/02178).   For the above reasons the proposed vehicle access arrangements are 
considered to be acceptable in principle. 

Residents have raised concerns in relation to the additional traffic, further congestion on 
the surrounding highway network and highway safety concerns.  The highways impacts for 
the proposed development and the associated off-site works are a significant consideration 
for the application.

The application was supported by a Transport Assessment (TA). The TA provides a 
detailed forecast and analysis of the amount of traffic that will be generated by this 
proposal and how this will impact on the local highway network.  The TA looked in detail at 
the forecast impact on the local highway network of the proposed development for the 
application year (2018), the opening year 2020 and the future year 2023.  The assessment 
takes into account the trip generation for the properties proposed as part of this application 
and the other 573 dwellings identified in the Local Plan sites for the Thornton area.

The assessment concluded that the level of traffic generation from the development would 
not have a severe impact on the highway network as envisaged by Policy EQ2 of the Local 
Plan and the provisions of Paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF).

As part of assessing the impact of the development on the network a series of junctions 
were assessed in detail, these include:

• Site Access / Lydiate Lane (mini roundabout);
• Ince Road / A565 Park View / Green Lane / A565 Quarry Road;
• Lydiate Lane / Runnels Lane;
• Lydiate Lane / Buckley Hill Road North / Northern Perimeter Road / Buckley Hill 

Road;

The layout of the access roads, footways and shared surface/private driveways areas 
within the development site are considered to be acceptable.  The proposed site plan 
shows the provision of footways and paths throughout the site which includes a new 
footpath and cycle way along the south eastern part of the site, the route forms part of a 
wider footway/cycleway network which is a site specific requirement in Appendix 1 of the 
Local Plan. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4a



Tracking drawings have been supplied to demonstrate that refuse, servicing and delivery 
vehicles can safely manoeuvre within the site by using the proposed turning head facilities.  
The general access throughout the scheme is considered to be acceptable.

A Minimal Accessible Standards Assessment (MASA) has been completed and submitted 
as part of the Transport Assessment’s review of the accessibility of the site. It identifies 
that the site is accessible to other modes of transport and that there are no significant 
barriers.

All of the dwellings will have the benefit of off-street parking facilities and will be at a level 
that is considered acceptable in this location. The dwelling houses will have a minimum of 
2 spaces per property for 2 and 3 bed properties, and 3 spaces for 4 bed properties.

The assessment showed that all the junctions modelled are expected to still operate within 
theoretical capacity in the 2023 development scenario. However, along with the additional 
of traffic from other Local Plan sites, the proposed development will contribute to the 
forecasted increase in traffic at the junction of Lydiate Lane/Buckley Hill Road 
North/Northern Perimeter Road/Buckley Hill Road junction.

Sefton Council has previously identified the need to improve access and priorities between 
Gorsey Lane/Edge Lane and Brooms Cross Road, known as the Buckley Hill Lane 
Corridor, in order to alleviate traffic through Thornton and that generated from new 
development proposals, particularly taking in regard the Local Plan sites. 

There is currently a commitment to prepare and test options for a major scheme for 
improvements along this corridor, which includes the Lydiate Lane/Buckley Hill Road 
North/Northern Perimeter Road/Buckley Hill Road junction.

In order to mitigate the impact of the proposed development on this junction the applicant 
would be required to contribute towards the development of the scheme of improvements 
along this corridor by way of a financial contribution. This developer contribution of £20k 
will be split between the developer of this site and the developer of site MN2.26 to the 
north of Lydiate Lane. These contributions should be secured via a S106 legal agreement.

It is proposed that vehicular and pedestrian access to the development will be from Lydiate 
Lane via a new four armed mini roundabout junction, which will also provide access to 
Local Plan site MN2.26 located to the north of Lydiate Lane. This proposed mini 
roundabout junction is the subject of a separate planning permission DC/2018/02178.

The Highways Manager has reviewed accident records for a 5 year time period which 
shows that there have been 4 collisions on Lydiate Lane between Water Lane and Buckley 
Hill Lane involving 2 serious injuries during that period. However, there is no record of 
significant collision clusters on Lydiate Lane close to the site.  

A S106 agreement will secure a 50% financial contribution to the delivery of the 
roundabout granted planning permission under DC/2018/02178.   Planning permission 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4a



DC/2018/02178 also has a planning condition detailing a scheme of highway 
improvements associated with the roundabout including 2m wide footways connecting with 
existing and proposed footways, the introduction of a speed table on Lydiate Lane to the 
east of the roundabout, a Traffic Regulation Order to reduce vehicle speeds to 30 mph 
along this section of Lydiate Lane, appropriate signage and lineage, and suitable visibility 
splays.

Other conditions on this development relate to the need for a full travel plan, street lighting, 
20 mph speed limits within the site, electric vehicle charging and the need for a 
construction environmental management plan, which also incorporates consideration of a 
range of other environmental matters to be addressed during the construction period.  
Subject to these detailed and comprehensive measures, there are no highway related 
objections to the proposed development which complies with Local Plan policies EQ2 and 
EQ3 and adopted Council guidance on Sustainable Travel and Development.

Design and Appearance

The proposed development consists of a mixture of two and three storey, detached, semi-
detached and mews type housing. Car parking has been provided with a mix of frontage 
and parking to the sides of properties allowing for a good amount of landscaping along 
street frontages. A number of properties would benefit from detached garages.

The materials to be used in the proposed development would be a mixture of 
predominantly red brick, with grey coloured roof tiles. A number of the homes will be 
rendered to various elevations, providing a degree of contrast. The external finishes are 
considered to be acceptable. 

The boundary treatments within the proposal would consist of a mix of fences and walls, 
utilising a mixture of timber, brick and metal railings. These are considered appropriate, 
and the details and their implementation can be satisfactorily secured by condition.

The proposed design and appearance of the housing is considered to be acceptable and 
comply with Policy EQ2 of the Sefton Local Plan.

Density

Policy HC3 Part 4 of the Sefton Local Plan (‘Residential Development and Development in 
Residential Areas’) states that new residential development should achieve a minimum 
density of 30 dwellings per hectare.  This application site is 5.35 hectares in size, and the 
proposed development is for 183 homes.  Therefore the proposed density of the 
application site is 34 dwellings per hectare 

The indicative capacity in the Sefton Local Plan for site is 137 homes, which would result in 
a lower density of 25 dwellings per hectare. This was estimated knowing that the site was 
likely to require substantial infrastructure, without the level of information now available.  

Page 18

Agenda Item 4a



The application provides substantially more detail demonstrating that a higher density can 
now be achieved. 

Living Conditions of Future Residents 

Policy HC3 ‘Residential Development’ and the Council’s supplementary guidance on ‘New 
Housing’ sets out what is expected in terms of privacy, outlook and the provision of private 
garden space.

The guidance recommends minimum distances of 21 metres between habitable room 
windows in properties that face each other. Habitable rooms are rooms in which people 
spend long periods, such as living rooms, dining rooms, kitchens, bedrooms etc. There 
should also be a minimum distance of 12 metres between windows of a habitable room 
that face a blank façade or windows of a non-habitable room (e.g. bathroom, kitchen, utility 
room). In the main the proposal ensures that all dwellings meet these distances with the 
exceptions at plots 72 to 74 where the properties face dwellings opposite at approximately 
18m away. However, these are across proposed new public highway and frontage parking; 
given the public nature of the space in between, the reduction in distance is considered 
acceptable.    

The guidance also recommends gardens for 1 and 2 bed dwellings to measure a minimum 
of 50sqm, and 60sqm for 3+ bed dwellings. Every plot within the proposed development 
meets the relevant garden space standards, with some of the plots on the larger dwellings 
exceeding these.

With regards to boundary treatments the rear gardens of dwellings would be enclosed with 
1.8m high close boarded timber fences which will ensure the privacy of future residents is 
maintained.  

Living Conditions of Existing Residents 

The nearest existing residential properties run along the north western boundary of the site 
along Runnells Lane, numbers 1 to 96 backing onto the application site.  Residents have 
raised concerns in relation to properties being building to the rear of garden, causing loss 
of outlook, light and privacy, in particular those units which have gables along rear gardens 
(notably plots 20, 21, 28, 29, 37 and 38). 

The layout of the proposed housing exceeds the minimum distances of 21m between 
habitable room windows and 12m between habitable rooms on blank gable, as 
recommended in the Council’s guidance.  Given the distances with the nearest existing 
properties, the proposed development would not result in an unacceptable level of 
overshadowing or overlooking of existing residents.

The impact from construction activities will be mitigated through a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan and this will be secured by condition.  This will 
incorporate specific measures in relation to construction traffic, wheel washing and dust 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4a



suppression, hours of working and deliveries, access routes to and from the site, areas of 
material storage, how construction vehicles enter and leave the site, and parking facilities 
within the site for construction staff.

Flood Risk and Drainage

The site lies within Flood Zone 1. This is defined by Planning Practice Guidance as having 
a low probability of flooding. However, due to the scale of development, the risks of 
potential flooding on-site and/or elsewhere from surface water run-off needs to be 
considered to ensure it is managed effectively.

A flood risk assessment and drainage strategy have been submitted with the application.  
The strategy provides for a system of swales/ drainage channels and a basin to attenuate 
the surface water on the site to a satisfactory level, before it would leave the site 
connecting into the existing surface water system. 

Local Plan Policy EQ8 (part 7a) sets out that for greenfield sites, surface water run-off 
rates and volumes should not exceed the current run-off rates following development.

Both the site and Runnells Lane have flooded on numerous occasions. Eight separate 
incidents of flooding were recorded between 2000 and 2012. It is understood flooding is 
primarily caused by:

- Runoff from the agricultural/playing field land, and
- A lack of capacity within the surface water drainage network serving the built-up area to 
convey the runoff to Hunt’s Brook.

As part of the proposed development a new drainage system will be provided to capture 
the runoff from the agricultural/playing fields and divert it away from the built up area to 
Harrison’s Brook.  

This proposal will significantly reduce surface water flows within the existing drainage 
network and greatly reduce surface water flood risk in the area.

The Lead Local Flood Authority has been consulted and has no objections.  A condition is 
recommended for a validation report requiring confirmation that the drainage scheme has 
been implemented as proposed and functions as proposed.  The Council will not be 
expected to take any role in the long term management and maintenance of this asset 
which is to be secured through a S106 legal agreement.

Taking into account all of the above matters, it is considered the likelihood of flooding has 
been adequately addressed, conditions are recommended to secure the mitigation 
measures identified above, the proposals are compliant with Policy EQ8 ‘Flooding and 
Drainage’ of the Sefton Local Plan.

Page 20

Agenda Item 4a



Site Levels

The applicant has provided details of existing and proposed site levels. The submitted 
topographical survey shows that existing site levels vary starting in the western part of the 
site at 18.2m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD - i.e. mean sea level), dropping to 17.5m AOD 
in the middle of the site before rising again in the north part to 18.5m AOD.   The lowest 
part of the site is in an area to rear of 69 to 75 Runnells Lane at 17.1m AOD.   

Slight level increases may be required along the north western part of the site, to the rear 
of existing residents along Runnells Lane, but the submitted cross sections show that the 
resultant site levels would be similar to that within the adjacent existing residential 
properties. Conditions are recommended to verify finished floor levels and site levels of the 
new homes.

Public Open Space Provision 

The provision of public open space in new housing developments is controlled by Policy 
EQ9 of the Local Plan which states that at least 40sqm of open space must be provided 
per new-build home in proposals for more than 150 units.  On the basis of 183 new 
dwellings being provided this equates to a requirement of 7,320 sq.m of public open space 
provision.

The Open Space Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out that the scheme 
should include formal children’s play equipment on site.  The plans show the siting of 5 
pieces of play equipment. Whilst this complies with the guidance in terms of numbers, the 
type of equipment would be trim trail and outdoor gym type of equipment.

The applicants have indicated they would be providing some 5,640  sq.m of useable 
publicly available open space on site, leaving a shortfall of 1,680 sq.m.  A financial 
contribution of £88,788 is therefore required in lieu of the onsite provision which would be 
secured through a Section 106 Legal Agreement.  

It is proposed that the payment in lieu of onsite provision would be used to improve the 
existing public open spaces within 2 km of the site.  Taking the above into account, the 
proposal is considered to comply with policy EQ9 and the Open Space SPD.

Affordable Housing

In accordance with Policy HC1 of the Sefton Local Plan, 30% of the scheme (measured by 
bed spaces) must be provided as affordable housing.  80% of the affordable housing 
should be social / affordable rented with the remaining 20% as intermediate housing.

The application proposes 51 affordable houses as part of the proposed development.  This 
constitutes 30% affordable housing by bed spaces and so slightly exceeds the Policy 
requirement.

Page 21

Agenda Item 4a



The applicant has confirmed that 77.5% of the affordable housing provision would consist 
of social rented/affordable rented, and the remaining 22.5% would be intermediate 
affordable homes, which will be secured in the subsequent Section 106 Legal Agreement.  
It is acknowledged that this falls slightly short of the policy requirement, however it is 
considered that the benefits of the scheme as a whole providing new housing and meeting 
the 30% affordable housing requirement outweigh this minor diversion of policy.  

There is an even dispersal of affordable homes across the site, meeting the Council’s 
policy for ‘pepperpotting’ of affordable homes (i.e. homes spread across the site and not 
clustered).

There are also various house types which would be both affordable and market dwellings. 
This complies with the policy requirement to ensure properties are ‘tenure blind’ (i.e. there 
is no external difference between affordable and market dwellings).

Housing Mix

Policy HC2 of the Local Plan requires housing schemes of 25 homes to provide a mix of 
house types in terms of number of bedrooms. The requirement applies to market homes 
only, and sets a minimum of 25% of market homes to be 1 or 2 bedroom and a minimum of 
40% to be 3 bedroom. The intended purpose is to secure a wide mix of housing types for 
sale to meet the needs of local people.

The following table sets out the number of market homes proposed and the number and 
percentage (to nearest whole number) for different house types.

House Types (No. of
bedrooms)

Number of units (%) Policy Requirement

1 or 2 bedrooms 33 (25) Minimum of 25%
3 bedrooms 66 (50) Minimum of 40%
4+ bedrooms 33 (25)
TOTAL 183

The information provided by the developer demonstrates that they are complying with 
policy HC2.

Policy HC2 also requires that a minimum of 20% of the market dwellings comply with part 
M4 (2) of the Building Regulations which sets a high standard for accessibility and makes 
the accommodation more flexible and adaptable to meet the needs of a wider range of 
people through the different stages of life.  The plans provide 27 which would slightly 
exceed 20% and comply with the policy. 

Ecology and Habitats

The application site consists of previously undeveloped open fields bounded to the 
northwest by private residential development, to the south west by a plant nursey, and 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4a



agricultural fields to the east and south east. The north eastern boundary of the site runs 
along Lydiate Lane. 

The development site is located approximately 3.7km inland from the coast, and in close 
proximity to the Mersey Estuary, the Ribble and Alt Estuaries, and the Dee Estuary which 
are European designated Special Protection Areas, and internationally protected 
(RAMSAR sites).  Sefton Coast is also designated as and Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) and a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).

The application has been submitted with ecological surveys and a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment has been carried out.  Proposals have been put forward by the applicant in 
the form of an information leaflet and onsite mitigation measure specifically to address 
recreational pressure. They also propose the erection of an acoustic fence along the south 
/ eastern boundary of the site prior to construction works being carried out between 
September and March in any year, this is to prevent the disturbance any non-breeding 
birds (such as Pink Footed Geese) that may use the fields to the south east

An Appropriate Assessment is therefore required in accordance with Regulation 63 of the 
Habitats Regulations (2017).  The Appropriate Assessment has been completed which 
concludes that, with mitigation/preventative measures secured through the appropriate 
planning mechanisms, there will be no adverse effect upon the integrity of European sites

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service have been consulted, they have no objections 
subject to conditions in relation to the onsite mitigation measures, and a construction 
environmental management plan.  The proposal is therefore considered to comply with 
policy NH2 of the Sefton Local Plan.

Trees and Landscaping

Local Plan Policy EQ9 ‘Provision of Public Open Space, Strategic Paths and Trees’ is 
relevant when considering the trees and landscaping requirements.  The application site 
includes areas of public open space along the south eastern part of the site, forming a 
linear open space with a footpath running through its centre. A plan identifying the general 
landscape strategy of these areas alongside general proposals to establish a usable space 
has been submitted in support of the application. This open space will provide planting to 
soften the urban edge and provide a suitable transition to the open fields to the south east 
of the site.

The site specific criteria in Appendix 1 of the Local Plan requires the development to 
incorporate a pedestrian and cycle route through the site to connect through to site 
allocations MN2.24 (Land at Southport Old Road), MN2.25 (Land at Holgate, Thornton) 
and MN2.26 Land at Lydiate Lane), and the path north of Thornton Cemetery and an 
accessible route to Runnells Lane Park.  The scheme provides this along the south 
eastern part of the site linking the new residential area with the sites to the north. The 
proposal is consistent with the site specific requirements in Appendix 1.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 4a



Approximately 100m of scrub and bramble is to be cleared from the site frontage on 
Lydiate Lane, to facilitate the vehicle access and visibility splays, and create a new 
landscaped frontage to the site.  Further existing tree and scrub would need to be removed 
from adjacent to the north western boundary, including the small allotment area, and a 
small group in the south eastern corner of the site.  The above removal is considered 
necessary to facilitate the access and internal site layout of the site, the provision of onsite 
open space will provide plenty of opportunities for compensatory planting, including the 
potential for new hedgerow planting along the site frontage and along site boundaries.

Conditions are recommended for the approval of detail of planting and all other hard and 
soft landscaping features.  The long term management and maintenance of open space 
within the site can be secured with suitable planning conditions and a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement.  Subject to these measures, the proposals are considered to comply with 
Policy EQ9.  

Air Quality 

The application has been submitted with a detailed Air Quality Assessment which 
assesses the impact emissions from traffic generated by the proposed development will 
have on local air quality. Existing air quality in the area is of a good standard and well 
within National Air Quality Standard Objectives. The development is predicted to have a 
negligible impact on air quality levels.  The Environmental Health Manager has no 
objection.   Conditions are recommended to secure the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points for each of the dwellings, and the control of dust during construction which 
can be included in the construction environmental management plan.

Noise 

A noise assessment report has been submitted with the application.  Where appropriate, 
consideration has been given to noise mitigation measures to demonstrate how future 
residents can be protected.

The assessment has been based upon the results of a detailed baseline noise survey, and 
acoustic modelling has been carried out to establish the prevailing noise levels at the 
proposed development.

An assessment of external daytime noise levels predicted within rear garden areas has 
demonstrated that acceptable levels are expected be achieved with the adoption of 
considerate layout design and the incorporation of localised acoustic screening to protect 
the gardens of the closest dwellings to Lydiate Lane, which will include a 2m high brick wall 
around the garden of plot 1.    

With the installation of appropriately specified and selected glazing and ventilation units, 
the noise levels within habitable rooms can be controlled to achieve relevant and agreed 
daytime and night-time noise levels taking account of BS 8233 and the World Health 
Organisation Guidance.

Page 24

Agenda Item 4a



Heritage and Archaeology

There are no registered World Heritage Sites, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Registered 
Parks and Gardens, Registered Battlefields, Conservation Areas or Listed Buildings wholly 
or partly within the Site. Therefore, the site does not contain any designated heritage 
assets for which there would be a presumption in favour of preservation in situ and against 
development.

The applicant has submitted a desk based assessment of the potential heritage of the site.  
This concludes that there are potential archaeological deposits from the mid-18th Century 
associated with a former farm and house.  The Council’s archaeological advisors 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) have advised that any surviving 
archaeological deposits would be considered to be of local significance only and that 
mitigation in the form of preservation by record would be considered appropriate.  Taking 
this into account a condition is recommended to secure a scheme of investigation for 
archaeological work. Subject to this condition the proposal would comply with Sefton Local 
Plan policy NH14.

Contaminated Land

The application has been submitted with a site investigation report which recommends 
further ground investigations, and a programme of ground gas monitoring and an 
assessment for the foundation design, the results to be submitted for review.  The 
Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted and has no objections.  These 
further investigations, monitoring and the detailed design, specification and verification 
plan for the gas protection measures can be satisfactorily controlled by planning 
conditions.

Housing Land Supply

Each local authority is expected to have a 5 years’ housing land supply.  Sefton has a 4.6 
years’ supply based on the most recent assessment, dated 31st March 2018  The 
proposed development will make a contribution towards improving the Council’s supply of 
housing land.

Energy Efficient and Low Carbon Design

Policy EQ7 ‘Energy Efficient Design’ requires that major developments incorporate 
measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions where practicable.  The applicant will be 
incorporating infrastructure for low emissions vehicles, and has agreed a planning 
condition to ensure one electric vehicle charging point is provided per dwelling and one per 
ten communal spaces, in accordance with the Council’s guidance on Travel and New 
Housing.

Page 25

Agenda Item 4a



Minerals

The application site falls within a Mineral Safeguarding Area, and the application has been 
accompanied with a Mineral Safeguarding Assessment report, which is considered to 
satisfy the requirements of Policy NH8 of the Sefton Local Plan. The site is not viable for 
recovery of minerals and the proposed development would not sterilize potential future 
recovery.

Education

The Thornton and Crosby area has been identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan as an 
area requiring primary school places to support growth.  The current rate for new dwellings 
in this area is £2,129.15 per dwelling (2018/2019).  Local Plan policy IN1 (Infrastructure 
and Developer Contributions) states that developer contributions may be sought to provide 
or enhance infrastructure to support new development.  The contributions will be secured 
by a Section 106 legal agreement.  Subject to the above the scheme complies with Local 
Plan policy IN1 of the Sefton Local Plan.

Other matters

Representations have been received from residents and the Parish Council of Sefton and 
Lunt Villages, raising concerns that the proposed development would be affected by the 
Port of Liverpool Access Route.  This currently does not have planning permission or any 
status in the Sefton Local Plan, therefore no weight can be attributed to this.

Conclusion

Taking all of the above into account, the proposal is considered acceptable. The principle 
of development is established given that this site is allocated for housing development in 
the Sefton Local Plan. The proposal would provide 183 dwellings, including 51 affordable 
homes, in an area which has a shortage of affordable homes, and would also assist in 
reducing the overall deficit in the Council’s housing land supply.

The submitted Traffic Assessments demonstrate that the development would not have a 
detrimental impact on the local highway network. The submitted Flood Risk Assessment 
and drainage scheme demonstrate that the site would not impact on flood risk and the site 
can be satisfactorily drained. The proposals would not have a detrimental impact on the 
living conditions of existing or future residents. The design, layout and appearance of the 
scheme are considered to be acceptable.    The development would not cause significant 
harm to local wildlife or European protected sites.

The proposed development would not cause harm to local heritage assets, and would 
provide open space within the site. The management of the public open space would be 
controlled through a section 106 legal agreement.

Page 26

Agenda Item 4a



Overall the proposal complies with adopted local and national planning policy. It is 
therefore recommended that the application be approved subject to conditions and the 
applicants entering into a legal agreement. 

Recommendation - Approve with conditions subject to the 
completion of a section 106 agreement securing the following:

• Provision of affordable housing within the development;

• Provision of accessible and adaptable homes within the development; 

• Provision and management of on-site public open space within the development;

• Payment of off-site public open space contribution;

• Provision and management of on-site sustainable urban drainage (SUDS);

• Education contribution of £2,129.15 per dwelling (index linked for future years);

• A 50% financial contribution to the delivery of the roundabout serving the access to 
the site off Lydiate Lane, granted planning permission under DC/2018/02178, to be 
paid within 30 days of any written approach by the Council following the contract 
being let for the delivery of the roundabout

• A financial contribution of £10,000 to the development of an outline Major Scheme 
for improvement to the Buckley Hill Lane Corridor.

Conditions 

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2) The development hereby granted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
plans and documents listed below:

H7901:02 ‘Site Location Plan’
H7907:01 Rev AA ‘Planning Layout’
H7907:04 Rev C ‘Material Layout’
H7901:07 Rev E ‘Boundary Treatment Plan’

Page 27

Agenda Item 4a



H7901:10 Rev C ‘Charge Points Plan’
H7901:05 Rev C ‘Refuse Layout’
H7901:SS Rev E ‘Street Scene’
H7901:06 Rev D ‘Surfacing Layout’
DB-SD13-004 ‘Boundary Wall Type 1’
DB-SD13-006 Rev A ‘Close Boarded Fence’
DB-SD13-014 ‘External Gate’
EXT WKS 17 Rev A ‘1200 Metal Railings with Bow Top’

 Mobilane ‘Green wall example construction drawing’
Submitted House Type Booklet
Ref: 16148 ‘Landscape Proposals DWH NW’
11336/P15c ‘Landscape Strategy Plan’

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development.

3) a) Prior to the commencement of development a phasing plan of the site 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

b) Prior to commencement of development of each phase, the approved scope of 
works (in Brownfield Solutions Ltd (March 2017) Geo-Environmental Assessment 
Report Ref: LC/C2833/6760) for the investigation and assessment must be 
undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
produced. The report should include an appraisal of remedial options and 
identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant 
linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors.

4) Prior to commencement of development of each phase (as identified in condition 3a) 
a detailed remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant linkages 
identified in the approved investigation and risk assessment, must be prepared and is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

a) The strategy must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management procedures 
and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure that the site will not qualify 
as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 on 
completion of the development and commencement of its use.

b) In the event that the proposed remediation scheme involves the provision of a 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4a



ground cover system a plan indicating the existing and proposed external ground 
levels on the application site shall be submitted for approval to the Local Planning 
Authority.

c) The development shall proceed in accordance with the external ground levels 
approved under (b) unless the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written approval 
to any variation.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors.

5) a) The approved remediation strategy for each phase (as identified in condition 4a) 
must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the commencement of 
development other than that required to carry out remediation.

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed 
remediation objectives and criteria must be produced, and is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority, prior to commencement of use of the 
development.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors.

6) a) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when 
carrying out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the 
Local Planning Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 
strategy, verification of the works must be included in the verification report required 
by condition 5.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
ecological systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors.

Page 29

Agenda Item 4a



7) No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved CEMP shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period. The CEMP shall include phase specific details of:

 The proposed times construction works shall take place
 Details of temporary construction access 
 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
 Loading and unloading of plant and materials
 Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
 The location of the site compound
 Suitable wheel washing/road sweeping measures
 Appropriate measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 

construction
 Appropriate measures to control the emission of noise during construction
 Details of all external lighting to be used during the construction
 The name and contact details of person(s) accountable for air quality and dust 

issues
 A programme for issuing information on construction activities to residents that 

border the site
 Details of the days/hours when construction activities will take place
 A construction traffic routeing plan
 A Site Waste Management Plan
 The erection of acoustic fencing along the south / eastern boundary of the site 

prior to construction works being carried out between September and March in 
any year.  

The details approved above shall be implemented throughout the period of 
construction.

Reason: In the interests of amenity, highway safety and amenity.

8) a) Prior to construction of any dwelling details of electric vehicle charging points 
(minimum one per dwelling) must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

b) No dwelling shall be occupied until the electric vehicle charging point for that 
dwelling has been installed and is operational in accordance with the approved 
details.

The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter.

Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and 
carbon emissions.

Page 30

Agenda Item 4a



9) Prior to construction of any dwelling a detailed scheme of street lighting on the 
proposed access road within that phase of the development must be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall 
comply with the requirements of BS5489 and shall be implemented in full prior to the 
occupation of dwellings within that phase. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

10) No part of the development shall be occupied until a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
to introduce a 20 mph zone within the development has been made and a program 
for the implementation of the Order has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

11) Before any individual dwelling is occupied all of the necessary areas required for 
vehicle parking, turning and manoeuvring for that individual dwelling must be laid out, 
demarcated, levelled, and drained in accordance with the approved plans and 
retained thereafter for that specific use.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

12) a) No part of the development shall be occupied until a Full Travel Plan (Based on the 
submitted Framework Travel Plan, November 2018) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

b) The provisions of the Full Travel Plan approved under (a) above shall be 
implemented and operated in accordance with the timetable contained therein unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of ensuring sustainable choice of travel.

13) The Surface Water Drainage Strategy detailed in the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment (Ref. 18053_FRA, December 2018), Drainage Strategy Layout Plan 
(drawing no. 18053 - SK01 E), shall be implemented and maintained for the duration 
of the development.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage facilities are provided to serve the site.

14) Prior to the occupation of any dwellings a validation report demonstrating that the 
drainage scheme has been carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment (Ref. 18053_FRA, December 2018), Drainage Strategy Layout Plan 
(drawing no. 18053 - SK01 E) for that phase shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The approved works shall be retained as such thereafter.

Page 31

Agenda Item 4a



Reason: To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of surface water 
and sewage disposal.

15) Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage facilities are provided to serve the site.

16) No dwelling shall be constructed until full details of the existing and proposed ground 
levels (referred to as Ordnance Datum) within the site and on land and buildings 
around the site by means of spot heights and cross sections, proposed finished floor 
levels of all buildings and structures, have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be implemented in 
accordance with the approved level details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and in the interest of visual and 
residential amenity.

17) Prior to the construction of external elevations of the first 15 dwellings the finished 
levels shall be subject to a topographical survey to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The results of these surveys shall confirm 
that the Finished Floor Levels (FFL) of those plots are constructed to the levels 
agreed by condition 16 and no further construction above FFL of external elevations 
of dwellings on those plots shall take place until approval is given as required above.  
In the event that the submitted surveys fail to confirm the FFL correspond to the 
levels as approved, or are not within 100mm of those levels, a new planning 
application(s) shall be submitted for those plots to which the variation relates.

Reason: This matter is fundamental in order to safeguard the living conditions of 
nearby occupiers, to safeguard the character and appearance of the area and ensure 
satisfactory drainage.

18) Prior to the occupation of the first 15 dwellings the levels of gardens, adjacent 
highways and other public areas shall be subject to a topographical survey to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The results of 
these surveys shall confirm that the levels of those plots and adjacent areas are 
constructed to the levels approved under condition 16.  In the event that the 
submitted surveys fail to confirm the levels correspond to the levels as approved, or 
are not within 100mm of those levels, a new planning application(s) shall be 
submitted for those plots to which the variation relates.

Reason: This matter is fundamental in order to safeguard the living conditions of 
nearby occupiers, to safeguard the character and appearance of the area and ensure 
satisfactory drainage.

19) a) No part of the development shall be occupied until details of both hard and soft 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4a



landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. These details shall include: 

i) A statement setting out the design objectives and how these will be achieved; 
ii) earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours; 
iii) means of enclosure and retaining structures; 
iv) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; 
v) hard surfacing materials; 
vi) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other 
storage units, signs, etc.), and 
vi) water features. 

Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of plants noting species, plant supply sizes and 
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; 

vii) an implementation programme including a phasing plan of the works.

Any landscaping and/or replacement planting shall include small seed bearing 
species which encourage red squirrels and discourage grey squirrels. 

b) The hard and soft landscaping shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved programme under (a) above.

c) Any trees or plants that within a period of five years after planting, are removed, 
die or become seriously damaged or defective shall be replaced with others of a 
species, size and number as originally approved in the first available planting 
season unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any 
variation.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development.

20) Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling, a Landscape and Ecology Management 
Plan (LEMP), including management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for 
all landscaped areas (other than privately owned domestic gardens), shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The LEMP shall 
be carried out as approved and any successors to the original body responsible for its 
implementation shall be notified to the Local Planning Authority in writing within one 
month of any such change occurring.

Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development over a 
longer term period.

21) Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling full details of an information pack to be 
provided informing residents of the presence and importance of the designated 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4a



nature sites, and how residents can help protect them shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed information must be 
provided on first occupation of each dwelling. 

Reason: To mitigate recreational pressure on the designated coast.  

22) The tree protection measures outlined in the approved Arboricultural Impact
Assessment (Report Number: 11336_R04c_CG_LP November 2018) shall be 
implemented in full. 

Reason: To prevent damage to trees.

23) No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow removal, vegetation management and / or 
ground clearance are to take place during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. 
If it is necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding season then all trees, 
scrub, hedgerows and vegetation are to be checked first by an appropriately 
experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of 
how they will be protected are required to be submitted for approval.

Reason:  To protect birds during their breeding season.

24) No dwellings shall be occupied until a scheme for the provision of bird boxes and 
details of fencing allowing for movement of wildlife (i.e. hedgehogs), including their 
phasing and timing for their implementation has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and implemented in accordance with those 
details.

Reason: To secure biodiversity enhancement.

25) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved boundary 
treatment details in drawing nos. H7901:07 Rev E; DB-SD13-004; DB-SD13-006;
DB-SD13-014; and EXT WKS 17 A.  No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved 
boundary treatments for that property have been implemented.  

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

26) No development above slab shall take place until samples of materials to be used in 
the construction of the dwellings have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development.

27) Prior to the occupation of any dwellings a scheme of acoustic glazing shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
scheme of glazing shall be implemented in full.

Page 34

Agenda Item 4a



Reason: In the interests of amenity of future occupiers.

28) No development shall take place until the applicant has submitted a written scheme 
of investigation for archaeological work for approval in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The work shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved 
scheme.

Reason: To ensure that archaeological remains and features are recorded prior to 
their destruction.

Informatives

Addresses
2) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of 

addresses. Contact the Highways Development Control Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 
to apply for a new street name/property number.

Highway Works
3) The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by 

a Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense. Please contact the 
Highways Development Control Team on 0151 934 4175 for further information.

Highway Agreements
4) The applicant/developer is advised that agreements under Section 38 (if necessary) 

and Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 will be required and to contact the 
Highways Development Control Team on 0151 934 4175 in this regard.

Piling Works
5) The developer is advised to contact Sefton Council's Pollution Control Team for 

suitable guidance if piling works are proposed.

6) Lead Local Flood Authority
The applicant is also reminded that 'Any changes to an ordinary watercourse must 
seek separate consent from the Council as Lead Local Flood Authority prior to works 
being undertaken, as set out in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Sefton 
Council's position on consenting and enforcement is set out in its Ordinary 
Watercourse Culverting, Diverting, Enforcement and Flood Investigation Policies'.

7) Merseyside Fire And Rescue Service
Access for fire appliances should comply with the requirements of Approved
Document B5 of the Building Regulations.

Water supplies for fire-fighting purposes should be risk assessed in accordance with 
the undermentioned guidance in liaison with the water undertakers (United Utilities - 
0161 907 7351) with suitable and sufficient fire hydrants supplied. (Select relevant 
paragraph)

Page 35

Agenda Item 4a



Housing

Housing developments with units of detached or semidetached houses of not more 
than two floors should have a water supply capable of delivering a minimum of eight 
litres per second through any single hydrant. 

*The premises should comply with Section 55 of the County of Merseyside Act 1980

Page 36

Agenda Item 4a



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 27 March 2019

Subject: DC/2017/00434
Land North Of Lydiate Lane, Thornton

Proposal: Outline planning application for up to 268 no. dwelling houses with some 
matters reserved in respect of appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale with access applied for at this stage

Applicant: Nuffield College Agent:     Mr Shaun Taylor
                SAT PLAN Ltd

Ward: Manor Ward

Summary
The above application was originally considered by Planning Committee on 18 October 2017. 
Committee resolved to grant permission subject to the completion of a Section 106 Agreement 
securing the following:- 

- Education contribution of £2,065 per dwelling for each dwelling comprising two bedrooms or 
more,

- Provision of freely accessible public open space within the development,

- A minimum of 30% of all bedspaces to provide affordable housing,

- A 50% financial contribution to the delivery of a roundabout serving the eastern access to the 
development, prior to first occupation of any dwelling permitted on adjacent allocated site 
MN2.27, and

- A financial contribution of £20,000 to the development of an outline Major Scheme for 
improvement to the Buckley Hill Lane Corridor.

A copy of the previous Committee Report and Late Representation is attached to this report.  

Though the resolution was agreed in October 2017, the Decision Notice has not been released.  This 
is because a short period afterwards, interest was expressed in the development of the adjacent 
allocated site MN2.27, which is now subject to a separate planning application reported on this 
agenda (DC/2018/02199 – Land rear of 1 to 93 Runnells Lane, Crosby).

This interest led to officers promoting dialogue between all relevant parties to secure the prompt 
delivery of a roundabout to serve both developments, as per the Local Plan’s site specific 
requirement for both sites MN2.26 and MN2.27.  Planning permission was then granted under 
reference DC/2018/02178 for the roundabout (granted 25 January 2019), and it was agreed by both 
parties that, regardless of their position relating to the development of their respective sites, the 
required funding for the roundabout would be split between them on a 50-50 basis. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5a



As a result of this agreement, and with the planning permission in place, the applicant is now 
agreeable to paying their share of the contribution within 30 days of the contract being agreed for the 
roundabout’s construction on the Council’s written request.  Both parties would be liable for this 
simultaneously, and the Council would be able to resist the occupation of dwellings on either site 
should it later be proven that any failure to deliver the roundabout is as a direct consequence of the 
required monies not being paid within that timeframe by the applicant/developer.

It has not been considered necessary to re-notify residents as the proposals are not subject to any 
specific physical change since it was last reported to Committee; all that is required is for members to 
agree the latest mechanism for securing the roundabout and slight amendments to a number of 
planning conditions, which are reproduced in full below alongside a revised resolution.  

The revised conditions reflect the point that some requirements previously expressed are now 
redundant, as a result of the planning permission for the roundabout.  However, the approach to 
Construction Management is reviewed, and a revised condition attached to reflect current practice. A 
further condition is also attached requiring verification of the final drainage scheme, again to reflect 
more recent concerns that the site is shown to acceptably deal with concerns over flooding and 
drainage. 

The revised resolution increases the required financial contribution for education to £2,129.15 (as per 
2018/19 rates) and is index linked for future years dependent on when development commences.  
The revised resolution also reduces the required contribution for Buckley Hill Lane corridor to 
£10,000, with the balance achieved through a payment secured by the resolution for planning 
application DC/2018/02199.

Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the completion 
of a Section 106 Agreement securing the following:

- Education contribution of £2,129.15 per dwelling (index linked for future years) for each 
dwelling comprising two bedrooms or more,

- Provision of freely accessible public open space within the development,

- A minimum of 30% of all bedspaces to provide affordable housing,

- A 50% financial contribution to the delivery of the roundabout granted planning permission 
under DC/2018/02178 serving the eastern access to the development, to be paid within 30 
days of any written approach by the Council following the contract being let for the delivery of 
the roundabout, and

- A financial contribution of £10,000 to the development of an outline Major Scheme for 
improvement to the Buckley Hill Lane Corridor.

Page 38

Agenda Item 5a



Conditions

General

1) An application for the approval of reserved matters must be made no later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date of this permission. The development must be 
commenced not later than the expiration of two years from the final approval of reserved 
matters or in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter 
to be approved.

Reason: To comply with Section 92 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2) No development shall commence until details of the reserved matters (namely, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to 
comply with Section 92 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3) Prior to the construction of any dwelling a phasing plan including, but not limited to, a site 
layout plan identifying the proposed number of dwellings in each phase, the provision of 
internal roads, parking areas, footpaths, lighting and cycleways and open space for each 
phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the phasing details approved under this 
condition.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4) No dwelling shall be constructed until full details of the existing and proposed ground levels 
(referred to as Ordnance Datum) within the site and on land and buildings around the site by 
means of spot heights and cross sections, proposed finished floor levels of all buildings and 
structures, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall then be implemented in accordance with the approved level details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development.

5) The details of layout, scale and appearance as submitted at reserved matters stage shall 
accord to the principles of the Parameters Masterplan 016-019-P005-A and make provision 
for the following:

- A density of 30 dwellings per hectare within net developable areas,
- No dwellinghouse other than any provided as a flat or apartment to exceed a ridge height 

of 8.5 metres measured above final ground level as set out by condition 4,
- No dwellinghouse to provide less than 60 sq. metres private outdoor useable space,
- No flat/apartment to provide less than 20 sq. metres private outdoor space per 

flat/apartment,
- A minimum of 25% of all non-affordable dwellings to comprise 1 or 2 bedroom properties,
- A minimum of 40% of all non-affordable dwellings to comprise 3 bedroom properties,
- A minimum of 20% of all non-affordable dwellings to meet Building Regulation 

Requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’, and
- Public open space to be provided at a minimum of 40 square metres per hectare.Page 39

Agenda Item 5a



Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development.

Landscaping

6) The detailed landscaping plans submitted as reserved matters shall include: 

(i) details of planting to the northern, southern and eastern buffer zones, which will include 
replacement hedgerow to Lydiate Lane and the provision of a landscaping strip to the 
eastern boundary of no less than 15 metres in width, 

(ii) details of boundary treatments and hard surfaces,
(iii) the location, size and species of all trees to be planted to street frontages and within open 

spaces,
(iv) the location, size, species and density of all shrub and ground cover planting (which shall 

confirm small seeded species including but not limited to Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris), 
willow (Salix spp.), rowan (Sorbus aucuparia), birch (Betula pendula or B. pubescens), 
hawthorn (Crataegus monogyna), blackthorn (Prunus spinosa), alder (Alnus glutinosa) 
and holly (Ilex aquifolium), and;

(v) a schedule of implementation.

Reason: To ensure appropriate transition between housing development and the Green Belt 
and to ensure the completed development has an acceptable visual appearance.

Construction and noise impact

7) a) No development shall commence, until a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The CTMP 
shall include the following details:

o Location and details of site compound
o Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
o Loading, unloading and storage of plant and materials
o The erection and maintenance of security fencing / hoarding
o Wheel cleaning facilities
o Hours of working

b) The CTMP must be adhered to throughout the construction period.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety during the demolition and construction phase of 
the development.

8) The details submitted by reserved matters application shall include a Noise Impact 
Assessment.  The assessment shall include a scheme of noise insulation measures for all 
residential dwellings/units hereby approved.  The noise insulation measures shall be designed 
to achieve noise insulation to a standard that nuisance will not be caused to the occupiers of 
residential accommodation by traffic noise from Lydiate Lane and Brooms Cross Road.  The 
noise assessment shall be carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant/engineer.  
The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to any dwelling to which the approved 
scheme relates being occupied and be permanently maintained thereafter.

Reason: In order to safeguard the living conditions of future occupiers. 
Page 40

Agenda Item 5a



Highways

9) Prior of the construction of any dwelling a scheme (and full construction details) for the 
construction of the site access and the following off-site improvement works shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority:

- Accessibility improvements in the form of the installation of flush kerbs and tactile paving 
across both site junctions to Lydiate Lane.

- Provision of a 2 metre wide footway on the north east side of Lydiate Lane, along the full 
frontage of the site and to tie into the existing footways on Lydiate Lane, north west and 
south east of the site.

- Upgrade the surface of Rakes Lane to provide a 3 metre wide sealed surface path for its 
whole length. 

- The amendment of the existing Traffic Regulation Order to extend the 30 mph speed limit 
in an easterly direction along Lydiate Lane so as to reduce vehicle speeds to 30mph (the 
extent of the 30 mph limit to be agreed with the Local Highway Authority).

- The introduction of appropriate signage and linage on Lydiate Lane to support the 
amendment of the existing Traffic Regulation Order (to be agreed with the Local Highway 
Authority).

- Provide Chevron signage, to Diagram 515 sharp deviation to the right, at the junction of 
Rakes Lane and Lydiate and sharp deviation to the left at a point approximately 275 
metres south east of the site.

- Provide signage to diagram 513 double bend signage, for the westbound direction 
adjacent to no.48 Lydiate Lane

- Provide signage to diagram 512 ‘bend ahead’ bend, to the right at the junction of Green 
Lane and Water Street.     

The improvement works shall be completed in accordance with a programme to be submitted 
with the construction details and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

10) The areas identified for vehicle parking, turning and manoeuvring identified on the approved 
plan shall be provided to serve the specific part of the development to which it relates prior to 
that part of the development being brought into use and these areas shall be retained 
thereafter for those specific uses.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

11) The new western access point onto Lydiate Lane shall be constructed prior to the first 
occupation of any permitted dwelling to which the access relates.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

12) No part of the development served by the western access point shall be occupied until 
visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 43 metres at the proposed junction with Lydiate Lane have 
been provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1 metre above the 
carriageway level of Lydiate Lane.  The visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any 
obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.Page 41

Agenda Item 5a



13) No part of the development shall be occupied until a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to 
introduce a 20 mph zone within the development has been made and a program for the 
implementation of the Order has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

14) A Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
following occupation of the first 10% of all dwellings on site.  The provisions of the Travel Plan 
approved above shall be implemented and operated in accordance with the timetable 
contained therein.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

15) No construction shall take place until a detailed scheme of street lighting on the proposed 
access road within the development site, has been submitted for the approval of the LPA, the 
said scheme shall comply with the requirements of BS5489.  The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full prior to the occupation of dwellings in the phase to which the street 
lighting relates.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Archaeology

16) No ground works shall take place until the applicant has submitted a written scheme of 
investigation for the archaeological work for approval in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The work shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: In the interests of the protection of heritage assets.

Drainage

17) Prior to the construction of any dwelling, a Surface Water Drainage Scheme shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The Surface Water 
Drainage Scheme shall include details of:

- The life time of the development, design storm period and intensity, discharge rates and 
volumes (both pre and post development), temporary storage facilities, means of access 
for maintenance and easements where applicable, the methods employed to delay and 
control surface water discharge from the site, and the measures taken to prevent flooding 
and pollution of the receiving ground water and/or surface waters including watercourses 
and details of flood levels in AOD,  

- The drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water run off must not exceed 
existing Greenfield run off,

- Any works required off site to ensure adequate discharge of surface water without causing 
flooding or pollution,

- A timetable of implementation including phasing where applicable,
- Site investigation and test results to confirm infiltration rates,
- Water quality controls, 
- How any flood water, including depth, will be safely managed in exceedance routes, and;
- Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker or Page 42

Agenda Item 5a



management and maintenance by a management company.

The Surface Water Drainage Scheme shall be implemented in full accordance with the 
agreed scheme and timetable and shall be maintained and managed in accordance with the 
scheme at all times thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the sustainable drainage of the development.

18) The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance with 
principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy dated 
March 2017 prepared by Campbell Reith Hill LLP.  No surface water will be permitted to drain 
directly or indirectly into the public sewer. The development shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in 
surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding.

19) Prior to the occupation of any dwellings within a phase a validation report demonstrating that 
the drainage scheme has been carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment and Drainage Strategy prepared by Campbell Reith Hill shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved works shall be retained as 
such thereafter.

                
Reason: To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of surface water and 
sewage disposal.

Contamination and remediation

20) Prior to commencement of development, a preliminary investigation shall be prepared 
including the following:  - Desk study- Site reconnaissance - Data assessment and reporting- 
Formulation of initial conceptual model- Preliminary Risk Assessment.  If the Preliminary Risk 
Assessment identifies potentially unacceptable risks, a detailed scope of works for an 
intrusive investigation, including details of risk assessment methodologies, must be prepared. 
The contents of the scheme and scope of works are subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority and must accord with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.              

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

21) Prior to commencement of development, the approved scope of works for the investigation 
and assessment must be undertaken and a written report of the findings submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, including an appraisal of remedial options 
and identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant 
linkage.           

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5a



out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

22) Prior to the construction of any dwelling within a specific phase as specified by condition 3 
above, a detailed remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant linkages identified in the 
approved investigation and risk assessment, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The strategy must include all works to be undertaken, proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, a timetable of works, site management 
procedures and roles and responsibilities.  The strategy must ensure that the site will not 
qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 on 
completion of the development and commencement of its use.  In the event that the proposed 
remediation scheme involves the provision of a ground cover system a plan indicating the 
existing and proposed external ground levels on the application site shall be submitted for 
approval to the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed in accordance with 
the external ground levels as approved.           

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

23) The remediation strategy as approved by condition 19 must be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the construction of any dwelling within a phase.  Following 
completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation strategy, a 
verification report demonstrating compliance with the approved remediation objectives and 
criteria shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to 
commencement of use.          

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

24) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved development, immediate contact must be made with the Local Planning 
Authority and works must cease in that area.  A further investigation and risk assessment 
together with any further remediation measures as may be required shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Any subsequent approved remediation 
scheme must be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  Following completion 
of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation strategy, verification of the works 
must be included in the verification report required by condition 23.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

Page 44

Agenda Item 5a



Informatives

Contaminated Land
1) Development other than that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of 

remediation must not commence until the conditions above have been complied with. If 
unexpected contamination is found after development has begun, development must be 
halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing, until condition 23 has been complied with in relation 
to that contamination. Contaminated land planning conditions must be implemented and 
completed in the order shown on the decision notice above.

Construction Techniques
2) If the proposed development is to incorporate piling in the foundation detail, the developer is 

advised to consult Sefton Council Pollution Control. This will reduce the chance of 
enforcement action which could occur if an unsuitable method of piling is chosen without 
appropriate consultation and which subsequently causes nuisance by way of noise and/or 
vibration.

Addresses
3) The developer is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses. 

Contact the Highways Development and Design Team on Tel: 0151 934 4175 to apply for a 
new street name and property numbers.

Works to Highway
4) The developer is advised that agreements under section 38 and 278 of the Highways Act 

1980 will be required to ensure the implementation of off-site highway improvements. All 
works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a Council approved contractor at the 
applicant's expense.  Please contact the Highways Development and Design Team on Tel: 
0151 934 4175 for further information.

Traffic Regulation Order
5) No part of the development shall be occupied until a TRO for a 20mph speed limit on the 

access road within the development site has been implemented in full.

Protected Species
6) Built features or vegetation on site may provide nesting opportunities for breeding birds, which 

are protected and Local Plan policy NH2 applies. No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow 
removal, vegetation management and/or ground clearance is to take place during the period 
1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake works during the bird breeding 
season then all trees, shrubs and hedgerows are to be checked first by an appropriately 
experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are present. If present, details of how they 
will be protected would be required.

Lighting Scheme
7) The applicant is advised to refer to the document Bats and Lighting in the UK, Bats and the 

Built Environment Series, Bat Conservation Trust and Institute for Lighting Engineers in 
respect to designing a lighting scheme which would not harm the habitats of foraging and 
commuting bats.

Sustainable Drainage
8) Details of a scheme for a sustainable drainage system should include:

Page 45

Agenda Item 5a



a) Information about the lifetime of the development and design of the sustainable drainage 
system design, including storm periods and intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year +30% 
allowance for climate change), discharge rates and volumes (both pre and post 
development), methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the 
site, and appropriate measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses;

b) Demonstrate that the surface water run-off would not exceed the pre-development 
greenfield runoff rate for an existing greenfield site as set in the FRA at 5l/s;

c) Include details of a site investigation and test results to confirm infiltrations rates;
d) Include details of how any flood water, including depths, will be safely managed in 

exceedance routes;
e) Secure arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory undertaker 

or, management and maintenance by a Residents’ Management Company through an 
appropriate legal agreement;

f) Secure arrangements, through an appropriate legal agreement for funding on-going 
maintenance of all elements of the sustainable drainage system including:
i. mechanical components;
ii. Riparian watercourses through the development
ii. on-going inspections relating to performance and asset condition assessments and;
iii. operation costs for regular maintenance, remedial works and irregular maintenance 

caused by less sustainable limited life assets or any other arrangements to secure 
the operation of the surface water drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.

g) Secure means of access for maintenance and easements, where applicable.
h) Include a timetable for implementing the scheme.

Additional Plans
9) In respect to the requirement for a number of plans the developer is advised to contact the 

following departments for further guidance:-
 Travel Plan – Sefton Travel Team (Tel: 0151 934 2147)
 Construction Traffic Management Plan – Highways Development and Design Team (Tel: 

0151 934 4175)
 Construction Environment Management Plan – Merseyside Environmental Advisory 

Service (Tel: 0151 934 4951)
 Habitat Management Plan – Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (Tel: 0151 934 

4951)

Page 46

Agenda Item 5a



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting:  18 October 2017

Subject: DC/2017/00434
Land North Of Lydiate Lane, Thornton

Proposal: Outline planning application for up to 268 no. dwelling houses with 
some matters reserved in respect of: (Appearance, Landscaping, 
Layout and Scale) with Access applied for at this stage

Applicant: Nuffield College Agent: Mr Shaun Taylor
SAT PLAN Ltd

Ward: Manor Ward

Summary
The outline application proposes up to 268 dwellings on land allocated for residential development 
within the Sefton Local Plan, with access considered at this stage.  

The report concludes that access can be acceptably achieved and subject to conditions and the 
completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement to secure affordable housing, public open space on 
site and the delivery of a roundabout serving as the main access to the allocation, it is 
recommended that planning permission is granted.  

Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the 
completion of a Section 106 Agreement securing the following:
- Education contribution of £2,065 per dwelling for each dwelling comprising two bedrooms or 

more,

- Provision of freely accessible public open space within the development,

- A minimum of 30% of all bedspaces to provide affordable housing,

- A 50% financial contribution to the delivery of a roundabout serving the eastern access to the 
development, prior to first occupation of any dwelling permitted on adjacent allocated site 
MN2.27, and

- A financial contribution of £20,000 to the development of an outline Major Scheme for 
improvement to the Buckley Hill Lane Corridor.

Case Officer Mr Steven Faulkner

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:Page 47

Agenda Item 5a

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OMGFCYNWGL300

Site Location Plan

Page 48

Agenda Item 5a



The Site
The site comprises undeveloped land lying between Lydiate Lane to the south and 
Broom's Cross road to the north.  To the west lies Thornton Cemetery and parcelled 
agricultural land to the east.

Substantial hedgerow planting defines the site fronting Lydiate Lane, with mixed trees 
and scrub to the west and a more open, less well defined feel to the eastern end of the 
site.  The land slopes very slightly from south-east to north-west.

History

No previous planning applications.

Consultations

Air Quality – no objections following submission of Air Quality Assessment

Building Control – no objections

Contaminated land – no objection subject to conditions

Environmental Health - no objections and specific details relating to noise protection 
and mitigation can be dealt with at reserved matters stage

Flooding and Drainage – no objection subject to conditions

Highways England – no objections

Highways Manager – no objections subject to conditions and completion of Section 
106 Agreement to ensure delivery of roundabout

Local Plans – no objections, acceptable in principle, requirements for education 
contributions, minerals assessment, open space on site, roundabout and footpath 
connections which can be dealt with through reserved matters application/legal 
agreement

Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service – no objections subject to condition 
relating to further archaeological investigations

Merseyside Fire and Rescue – no objections

United Utilities – no objection subject to conditions

Page 49

Agenda Item 5a



Neighbour Representations
9 letters of objection and 1 letter of support.

Objections comment as follows:

- Impact on Green Belt, open beautiful landscape will be ruined
- All brownfield land should be developed first
- Loss of agricultural land will contribute to diminishing food production
- Lack of localised infrastructure to support further development
- Increased traffic 24 hours per day, 7 days per week past these new buildings
- Local Plan requires a roundabout to be discussed and agreed with the adjoining 

allocation
- Brooms Cross Road has alleviated a lot of traffic and will now be back to square one 
- Brooms Cross Road has not alleviated traffic problems in Crosby and situation will be 

worsened
- Impacts on land valuable for local wildlife and local fauna
- Lack of local schools to support education 
- Decision has already been made and the views of residents are irrelevant
- Profit more important than the environment

1 letter of support requests a number of matters be addressed relating to improved 
access to cemetery, improved crossing points, speed tables, the provision of a park and 
play facilities for children, plus information on who would manage the green space.

Policy Context

The application site is situated in an area designated as residential in the Sefton Local 
Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  The policies of the Local Plan carry 
full weight and replace the policies in the Unitary Development Plan.

Assessment of the Proposal
The main issues to consider are the principle of development, affordable housing 
provision and housing mix, impacts on living conditions, access and highway safety, flood 
risk and drainage, design and character, impacts on local services and developer 
contributions, ground conditions, trees, landscaping and ecology.

At present, approval of access only is sought at this stage.  This means layout, scale, 
appearance and landscaping are reserved matters.  However, the applicant has provided 
a conceptual masterplan of how the site may be laid out which demonstrates that, on an 
indicative basis, the number of dwellings envisaged by the allocation can reasonably be 
accommodated.

Page 50

Agenda Item 5a



Principle of Development

The application site has been released from the Green Belt through the adopted Local 
Plan and is allocated for housing development under policy MN2.26 with an indicative 
capacity of 265 dwellings.  This establishes the principle of development.

Design and character

The land held a long-standing Green Belt designation and this is reflected in its presently 
open nature.  It is inevitable that the development of the site will bring visual impact as a 
result and the key lies with how this is contained, in particular having regard to a need for 
a smooth transition between built form to the eastern side and the open countryside which 
would sit to the west of a completed development.

Any development of this site would represent a prominent extension into the countryside 
east of Thornton.  The development would have a moderate impact on the landscape but 
is capable of being designed to contain the stronger built forms within a carefully designed 
periphery, achieving landscaped buffering and relief to the north, south and east 
boundaries.  As such the visual impacts must be balanced against the key objective of 
meeting substantial housing needs as close as possible to where they arise. 

It is anticipated that the scheme would largely comprise two storey estate housing but 
careful consideration is going to be required in respect of future delivery of the smaller 
units which can often be in the shape of apartment blocks.  The main planning conditions 
informing later design and character would relate to a maximising ridge heights across all 
dwellings of three or more bedrooms, the landscaped buffers referred to above and 
overall adherence to the submitted masterplan in the formation of a final design.

With these aspects addressed in more detail by the reserved matters, the scheme can be 
expected to comply with Local Plan Policies EQ2 (Design) and EQ9 (Provision of public 
open space, strategic paths and trees).

Affordable Housing and Housing Mix

As the proposal is for more than 14 dwellings, 30% of the total scheme (measured by 
bedspaces) would be provided as affordable housing based on 80% of these being social 
rented/affordable with the remaining 20% as intermediate housing.  This would be 
secured through the Section 106 legal agreement and enables compliance with Local 
Plan policy HC1 (Affordable and special needs housing).

As the proposal is for more than 24 dwellings, the non-affordable parts of the 
development must achieve a minimum of 25% of the dwellings as either 1 or 2 bedroom 
properties, and at least 40% must be 3 bedroom properties.  Additionally, 20% of the 
dwellings must meet with Building Regulation requirement M4 (2) ‘accessible and 
adaptable dwellings’.  Subject to these provisions being secured by planning condition the 
scheme complies with Local Plan policy HC2 (Housing type, mix and choice).

Page 51

Agenda Item 5a



It is also considered that as the application is for up to 268 dwellings, a condition is 
required to ensure that any reserved matters submission (whether for the site in whole or 
part) achieves 30 dwellings per hectare of the net developable area (this being the area 
remaining once distributor roads, primary schools, open spaces and buffer strips are 
eliminated) to ensure that housing is delivered efficiently without causing later pressure 
for other sites to be released.  This would also ensure compliance with Local Plan policy 
HC3 (Primarily Residential Areas).

Subject to final detail, matters relating to affordable housing, housing mix and density are 
addressed and the allocation will be able to be developed efficiently.  The relevant parts 
of Local Plan policies HC1, HC2 and HC3 are therefore complied with.

Living conditions of future residents

As referred to above, the layout is yet to be finalized but the masterplan provided with the 
application clearly demonstrates that the layout would respond positively to the 
expectations of residents, with good outlooks, no overshadowing, good useable outdoor 
space and off street parking provision.

Open space would be provided within the site to add further to the standard of living 
conditions and the indicative layout envisages good separation between dwellings, 
outdoor spaces and their relationship to the main routes bounding both the northern and 
southern site boundaries.

The submitted Air Quality Assessment confirms that there will be no adverse impacts on 
future residents from traffic to the north and south of the site, or as a result of emissions 
from the adjacent crematorium.

Subject to final detail a scheme is envisaged that would accord with the provisions of 
Local Plan policy HC3 and EQ5 (Air Quality) and the associated Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) ‘New Housing’.

Impacts on adjoining occupiers and uses

The scheme affords acceptable distance from all nearby residential properties and 
prevailing living conditions are wholly unaffected.  The proposed residential development 
will also have no impacts on the adjacent cemetery.

Planning conditions can be attached to cover matters relating to the construction process, 
most notably, the need for a construction management plan, and a phasing scheme to be 
supplied as part of any reserved matters application.  The scheme would therefore accord 
with the provisions of Local Plan policy HC3 and the associated Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) ‘New Housing’.

Page 52

Agenda Item 5a



Access and highway safety

The submitted Transport Assessment looked in detail at the forecast impact on the local 
highway network of the proposed development for both the original outline application 
year (2017), 2019 and a future year 2022.  The assessment concluded that the level of 
traffic generation from the development would not have a severe impact on the highway 
network as envisaged by Policy EQ2 of the Local Plan and the provisions of Paragraph 32 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

A number of junctions were also assessed as follows:

● Ince Road / A565 Park View / Green Lane / A565 Quarry Road;
● Western Site Access / Lydiate Lane;
● Lydiate Lane / Runnells Lane;
● Eastern Site Access / Lydiate Lane;
● Lydiate Lane / Buckley Hill Lane North / Northern Perimeter Road / Buckley Hill Lane.

With the exception of the last of these five, the junctions above are identified to operate 
well within capacity.  However, for the signalised junction at Lydiate Lane/Buckley Hill 
Lane North/Northern Perimeter Road/Buckley Hill Lane, the model shows that the junction 
operates within capacity for all measures except for the PM peak in 2022.  This 
assessment accounts for site traffic when local plan sites are implemented.  

The development would contribute to the increase in trips during the pm peak at Lydiate 
Lane/Buckley Hill Lane North/Northern Perimeter Road/Buckley Hill Lane.  With the 
addition of the traffic from the other Local Plan sites, this junction will exceed practical 
capacity so measures to mitigate this would be expected.

Sefton Council has previously identified the need to improve access and priorities 
between Gorsey Lane/Edge Lane and Broom’s Cross Road, known as the Buckley Hill 
Lane Corridor, in order to alleviate traffic through Thornton and that generated from new 
development proposals, particularly taking account of the Local Plan sites. 

There is currently a commitment to test options and to develop a major scheme for 
improvements along this corridor, which includes the Lydiate Lane/Buckley Hill Lane 
North/Northern Perimeter Road/Buckley Hill Lane junction.  

In order to mitigate the impact of the proposed development on this junction the applicant 
would be required to contribute £20,000 towards the development of the scheme of 
improvements along this corridor.  

Access to the site would be safe and suitable visibility splays can be achieved.

This site and the adjacent allocation MN2.27 (land south of Runnells Lane, Thornton) is 
required to be served from a single shared junction, rather than two separate ones, and 
this junction must be in the form of a 4 arm roundabout.  The current priority junction 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5a



proposal for the eastern access will need to be laid out in such a way as to enable it to be 
amended to a roundabout layout at such time that the adjoining allocation comes forward 
for development.   

The applicant is required to enter into a Section 106 Agreement to ensure their 
contribution to this whilst not leaving all responsibility to the adjacent allocation.  This 
would directly address one of the objections to the planning application.

Detailed layout, access and service road provision within the development would be 
assessed at reserved matters stage, as would parking provision.

The Highways Manager has reviewed accident records and has identified three within a 5 
year period to the north west of the site at the junction of Lydiate Lane and Lydiate Park.  
A planning condition is attached recommending a scheme of highway improvements 
including a detailed signage scheme and a review of speed limits for the stretch of Lydiate 
Lane fronting and adjacent to the development. 

The site is in a relatively accessible location; however, there is no footway along the north 
eastern side of Lydiate Lane at the location of the site. Therefore, there will be a 
requirement for the developer to construct a 2 metre wide footway on the north east side 
of Lydiate Lane, along the whole frontage of the site and to tie into the existing footways 
on Lydiate Lane, north west and south east of the site.  

Dropped kerbs and tactile paving will also be required across the two proposed access 
junctions to the site.

Rakes Lane runs along the north western boundary of the development site. It is currently 
an unmade track, with a varying width that provides a link from Lydiate Lane to a series of 
footpaths, bridleways and two areas of open access land north and west of the 
development site.  The reserved matters application will require specific details of 3 metre 
wide multi-purpose paths to be used by both pedestrians and cyclists within the 
development to link to Rakes Lane. 

In order to ensure that the site is accessible it will also be necessary to upgrade the 
surface of Rakes Lane to provide a 3 metre wide sealed surface path for its whole length.  

Other conditions relate to the need for a travel plan and the need for a construction traffic 
management plan, which also incorporates consideration of a range of other 
environmental matters to be addressed during the construction period.

Subject to these detailed and comprehensive measures, there are no highway related 
objections to the proposal and the scheme would comply with the relevant aspects of 
Paragraph 32 of the NPPF and Local Plan policies EQ2 and EQ3 (Accessibility).

Page 54

Agenda Item 5a



Flood risk and drainage

No objections have been received from the Lead Local Flood Authority, or from United 
Utilities.  They recommend that details are submitted for a sustainable drainage system to 
serve the site in order to ensure that satisfactory drainage facilities are provided in 
accordance with Paragraph 103 of the NPPF and Policy EQ8 (Flood Risk and Surface 
Water) of the Local Plan.  A condition can be added to this effect.

Impact on Services and Developer Contributions

Local Plan policy IN1 (Infrastructure and Developer Contributions) states that developer 
contributions may be sought to provide or enhance infrastructure to support new 
development. The Council intends to secure financial contributions towards the provision 
of primary school places on developments of 11 homes or more. 

Primary school places have been identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan as a 
requirement to support growth. The current rates are £2065 per new dwelling, although 
this charge does not apply to one bedroom dwellings or elderly people’s housing.  As the 
number of units and final proportion of one bedroom dwellings cannot be quantified at this 
stage, the Section 106 agreement will specify a sum per dwelling. However, by way of 
example, should 25% of the dwellings be one bedroom dwellings, this would amount to 
214 dwellings attracting a contribution of £441,938.

In respect of other local services, there is a medical practice within 10 minutes’ walk of 
the site at Bretlands Road.  Additionally, the shopping parade at the junction of Edge 
Lane and Moor Lane (which includes a dental practice, pharmacy, post office and a 
supermarket over Moor Lane is roughly a 15 minute walk).   Although it isn’t known how 
many new residents will occupy the dwellings or how many will be existing local 
residents, it is not expected the increase in patients as a result of the development would 
be significant.

The scheme complies with Local Plan policy IN1 when considering the above and subject 
to the required education contribution to which the applicant has agreed.

Trees and Landscaping

No trees are expected to be lost as a result of the proposals and whilst the existing 
hedgerow fronting Lydiate Lane is likely to require removal and/or cutting back to achieve 
footways and sightlines, in line with the highways’ comments above, there is ample scope 
for replacement planting.

It is anticipated that the reserved matters application would comprise extensive tree and 
hedgerow planting in line with Local Plan policy EQ9.  This will include the structural 
planting to soften the edge along the Green Belt as required by Local Plan policy EQ2 (4) 
(b).

Page 55

Agenda Item 5a



Ecology

An acceptable ecological report has been provided, which identifies all relevant habitats.  
The Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) have confirmed that there will 
be no impact on the Sefton Coast SSSI as a result of the proposals, and there are no 
impacts on other European Sites, therefore, no requirement for a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA).  There is also no requirement for the proposals to be considered 
against the three tests set out within the Habitats Regulations.

Conditions are recommended in relation to protecting the top of the banks of ditches and 
ponds to the north of the site, and for Reasonable Avoidance Measures to be secured in 
relation to common toad.  It is not however possible to condition matters relating to 
ground clearance, hedgerow removal etc. during the bird breeding season, as this is 
covered by other regulations.

MEAS comment that the landscaping strategy should incorporate landscaping and/or 
replacement planting with small seed bearing species, encouraging red squirrels.  The 
site is within the Red Squirrel Refuge and buffer Zone adopted by the Council.   This can 
also be covered by condition.

Subject to various conditions there will be no conflict with the relevant provisions of Local 
Plan policies NH1 (Natural Assets) and NH2 (Nature), and NPPF paragraph 117.

Ground Conditions

A geo-environmental desktop study has been provided with the application, which 
accurately identified potential sources of contamination associated with Made Ground 
within infilled ponds; adjacent garden of rest; historic and current use of the land for 
agricultural purposes; and possible fly tipping.

The report recommends that further site investigation is required, and this is agreed.  In 
addition to all other matters relating to long term remediation of the site, this can be 
secured by planning condition.  The applicant has been asked to provide a Minerals 
Assessment and has indicated at the time of writing that there will be one forthcoming.  It 
is expected that this will arrive in good time with the final findings reported by late 
representation.

With conditions and the anticipated submission of a Minerals Assessment there will be no 
conflict with Local Plan policies EQ6 (Contaminated Land) and NH8 (Minerals), in addition 
to the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF, most notably paragraphs 121 and 144.

Other Matters

Housing land supply

Each local authority is expected to have a 5 years’ housing land supply.  Sefton has a 4.2 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5a



years’ supply based on the most recent assessment, dated 1 April 2016. The proposed 
development would make a substantial contribution towards improving the Council’s 
supply of housing land.

Agricultural land quality

The site was assessed during the Local Plan process and was found to be ’best and most 
versatile’ agricultural land (mostly grade 2).  Whilst this is a material planning 
consideration the allocation of the land for housing was accepted within the Local Plan 
and the fact the land is allocated for residential development outweighs concerns relating 
to the loss of agricultural land and very limited weight can be afforded to this issue.

Consultation process

The applicant has submitted a Statement of Community Involvement, detailing their 
engagement and interaction with local residents.  The applicant sent consultation letters 
to 265 local residents.  Ward Councillors and both Sefton and Thornton Parish Council 
respectively were engaged in this exercise.

The consultation took place during February 2017 and 24 responses were received.  Of 
24 responses, 14 were registered as negative, with 5 neutral and 5 positive.  The negative 
replies have largely reflected on issues raised by representations made to the planning 
application (though more than one comment related to flood risk) which are addressed 
throughout the report. 

The exercise as undertaken is considered to be proportionate and robust, and is most 
likely to have assisted both in addressing objections and reducing them in number.  The 
consultation reflects the expectations set out by Paragraphs 188 and 189 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and the Council’s own Statement of Community Involvement.  
More detailed proposals if submitted at reserved matters stage would offer opportunity for 
further discussion and community consultation to shape the detailed final layout.

Archaeology

Whilst there are no heritage assets recorded on the Merseyside Historic Environment 
Record as lying within the proposed development site, MEAS have identified that the site 
is crossed by the Township boundary between Lunt & Sefton which also forms the 
southern boundary of the site.  As such it is considered that the applicant is required to 
undertake a programme of archaeological work, which can be secured by condition.

Subject to this scheme the proposal would comply with Sefton Local Plan policy NH14 
and the provisions of NPPF paragraph 141.

Other matters raised in representation not covered above

There has been an element of criticism in relation to the statutory consultation process, in 
particular with regard to the site notice posted.  This was posted on 24 March 2017, on a 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5a



lamp column in clear public view on the pavement side of Edge Lane at a point 
equidistant from the two proposed site accesses.  This positioning is consistent with the 
requirements of Paragraph 15(3) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order (Amended) 2015, which requires a notice to be posted in 
“at least one place on or near the land to which the application relates for not less than 21 
days.”  The notice has remained in position for more than the 21 days required, and the 
provisions of the Order are fully satisfied.  
 
The required press notice was also produced and a total of 65 local residents were 
informed.  As such the Council has properly fulfilled its obligations as required in respect 
of publicity for this application.

Far from the decision having already been made, the application has been subject to 
consultation by the applicant and statutory notification by the Local Planning Authority and 
all views presented at both stages have been taken into account in the formulation of the 
proposals and this report.

Conclusion

Taking all of the above into account, the proposal is considered acceptable. The principle 
of development is established given that this site was allocated for housing development 
in the recently adopted Local Plan. The proposal would provide 265 dwellings including 
affordable homes in line with Local Plan policy, in an area which has a shortage of 
affordable homes and would assist in reducing the deficit in the Council’s housing land 
supply.

Acceptable access arrangements are proposed and the conceptual layout addresses all 
potential future constraints to comprehensive development.  The proposal complies with 
adopted local and national policy and subject to conditions below and the completion of a 
Section 106 legal agreement for the education contribution, open space on site and the 
delivery of a roundabout in timely fashion should the adjacent allocation come forward, 
is recommended for approval.

Late rep for Item 

Further discussion has taken place following completion of the Committee report and it is 
the view of Highways Development Design that a “longstop” arrangement is necessary to 
ensure that the roundabout required within the Local Plan serving the eastern of the two 
accesses is eventually delivered irrespective of whether or not the adjacent allocation 
MN2.27 comes forward, or alternatively, should the amount of land required prove to be a 
concern, a signal controlled junction.  

It would be unreasonable, given the acceptance of a priority junction to deliver such 
measures at this stage, however, it is considered that the development should ensure that 
appropriate traffic controls are delivered at the half way point of any implementation of the 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5a



reserved matters.  The payment for the final solution would be subject to separate 
negotiation between the applicant and the owner of the adjacent allocation, though it is 
anticipated the cost would be split 50-50.

The recommendation is therefore amended as follows:

Approve subject to conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Agreement 
securing the following:

- Education contribution of £2,065 per dwelling for each dwelling comprising two 
bedrooms or more,

- Provision of freely accessible public open space within the development,
- A minimum of 30% of all bedspaces to provide affordable housing,
- The delivery of a roundabout or alternative means of signal controlled junction 

serving the eastern access to the development prior to the construction of the 130th 
dwelling, or on commencement of any development granted planning permission in 
respect of the adjacent allocated site MN2.27, whichever is the earlier.

- A financial contribution of £20,000 to the development of an outline Major Scheme 
for improvement to the Buckley Hill Lane Corridor.

An additional condition is also requested to complement this revised 
recommendation:
In the event that no dwellings are commenced in relation to site MN2.27 as allocated by 
the Sefton Local Plan adopted in April 2017 within twelve months of the commencement of 
the development hereby permitted, details of a roundabout, or other alternative means of 
signal controlled junction serving the eastern access to the site, shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and shall be implemented prior to the 
construction of the 130th dwelling as approved by any reserved matters application.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, pedestrian movement and the free flow of traffic 
on the local highway network.

A further condition is attached to reflect the reference in the Committee Report to 
the need to address noise impacts at reserved matters stage.

The details submitted by reserved matters application shall include a Noise Impact 
Assessment.  The assessment shall include a scheme of noise insulation measures for all 
residential dwellings/units hereby approved.  The noise insulation measures shall be 
designed to achieve noise insulation to a standard that nuisance will not be caused to the 
occupiers of residential accommodation by traffic noise from Lydiate Lane and Brooms 
Cross Road.  The noise assessment shall be carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic 
consultant/engineer.  The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to any dwelling to 
which the approved scheme relates being occupied and be permanently maintained 
thereafter.

Reason: In order to safeguard the living conditions of future occupiers. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5a



Correction

The conclusion of the report incorrectly references the provision of 265 dwellings.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, the final number of dwellings to be constructed is unknown but will be 
informed by reserved matters application.

Page 60

Agenda Item 5a



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE Date of Meeting: 27th March 2019

Subject: DC/2019/00049
18-20 Hawthorne Road, Bootle L20 2DN 

 
Proposal: Change of use and subdivision of ground floor from former Gymnasium 

(D2) to a Restaurant/Cafe (A3) and retail (A1) and part of the ground, 
first and second floors from 4 No. self-contained apartments to 7 No. 
self-contained apartments. Alterations to the external elevations and 
creation of a first floor enclosed roof terrace to the rear.

Applicant: Mr James Winters
Edwards Winters 
Developments

Agent: Mr Rob Edwards
R&R Design Services (UK) 
Ltd

Ward: Derby Ward

Summary
The proposal is to redevelop the derelict building to include two commercial units within part of the 
ground floor and seven flats within the remainder of the building. External alterations are also 
proposed including the creation of a roof terrace. The main issues to consider are the principle of 
development, matters relating to living conditions of future occupants and neighbours and design. 

The applicant has amended the scheme to meet all internal flat size standards; an area of outdoor 
space accessible for future occupants has also been introduced and the number of flats reduced 
from 8 to 7. While the level of outdoor space is below the Council’s guideline standards it is the 
most that can be reasonably achieved within the scope of the constrained site. The benefit of 
bringing a prominent vacant building back into use is considered to outweigh the shortfall in 
outdoor space. 

Subject to conditions there would be no unacceptable harm caused to neighbouring residents, the 
proposal is therefore consistent with local and national policy and is recommended for approval.  

Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions
Case Officer Mr Steven Healey

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Telephone 0345 140 0845 (option 4)

Application documents and plans are available at:
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PL0KOONW07M00

Page 61

Agenda Item 5b

mailto:planning.department@sefton.gov.uk


Site Location Plan

Page 62

Agenda Item 5b



The Site
The application site is 18-20 Hawthorne Road, Bootle, a vacant three storey end of terrace 
property situated at the junction with Ursula Street.
 
History
 
Planning permission was refused in November 2009 for the conversion of the building to 6 
apartments due to inadequate internal floor spaces and poor stacking arrangements 
alongside conflicts with Housing Market Renewal Initiatives (reference S/2009/0752).

Planning permission was approved in June 2008 for the conversion of the building to 6 
apartments incorporating rear extension (S/2008/0292).

Consultations
Environmental Health
No objection in principle, the layout is good however an enhancement of Building 
Regulations sound insulation standards is recommended where contrasting uses of flats 
exist.  The applicant should provide evidence to demonstrate the separating ceiling 
between the ground floor commercial uses and first floor flats and neighbouring property at 
16 Hawthorne Road exceeds the airborne sound transmission standards within Approved 
Document E by at least 10dB. A scheme of odour control for kitchen extraction equipment 
and noise control for plant and equipment to be installed on site shall be submitted for 
approval.
 
Highways Development Design
No objection as there are no highway safety implications. Whilst no parking is included the 
site is very accessible to public transport. There is unrestricted parking available within the 
vicinity to accommodate parking for the restaurant/café’s patrons. Cycle parking will need 
to be provided in accordance with Council guidance.

Housing Standards Manager
Some bedrooms are inner rooms; unless layout is revised a suitable means of escape, 
plus adequate fire separation and automatic fire detection system should be provided, as 
appropriate.

Neighbour Representations
None received. 

Application was called in to Planning Committee by Councillor Robinson.

Page 63

Agenda Item 5b



Policy Context
The application site is situated in an area designated as residential in the Sefton Local 
Plan which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.  

Assessment of the Proposal
The proposal is to subdivide the ground floor to create two separate commercial units, with 
one operating as retail and the other a café/restaurant. The remainder of the building is to 
be converted to seven self-contained apartments. External alterations are also proposed 
including the creation of an enclosed roof terrace for residents. 

The main issues to consider are the principle of development, matters relating to 
residential amenity, design, access and highway safety. 

Principle of Development

The application site is situated within a Primarily Residential Area subject to adopted Local 
Plan policy HC3, which permits residential development when consistent with other Local 
Plan policies and non-residential development when it can be demonstrated that an 
unacceptable impact will not be had on the living conditions of neighbouring properties and 
that the character of the area will not be harmed.

The proposal for flats is acceptable in principle. The proposed retail unit and 
café/restaurant are also considered to be acceptable in light of the prevailing 
characteristics of Hawthorne Road which comprises both residential and non-residential 
uses including numerous hot food takeaways and convenience stores. 

Living Conditions of Future Occupants

The proposal is subject to Local Plan policy HC4 which is accompanied by Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) ‘Flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation’. The latter sets out 
standards in relation to acceptable living conditions and forms the basis of the assessment 
below. 

The SPD requires a total accommodation size of 37sqm for traditional one-bedroom flats 
and 61sqm for two-bedroom flats. The scheme has been amended to now include 6 one-
bedroom flats and 1 two-bedroom flat, all of which meet the above standards. The 
applicant has advised that the bedrooms would be aimed at single occupants, therefore 
the 8.5sqm bedroom standard is met in the case of the one-bedroom flats while the two-
bedroom flat also contains one bedroom of over 10.5sqm.

In terms of outdoor amenity space, where none was initially proposed the Council has 
negotiated a 43sqm roof terrace atop the rear single storey element. Separate outdoor 
space for cycle parking and waste storage also exists at ground level. Access has been 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5b



provided internally to the roof terrace as opposed to externally via the back alley way. It 
would not be possible to achieve 20sqm per flat as is the desired standard within the SPD, 
and this would be out of character with the dense urban grain of the area. The SPD allows 
for a shortfall in outdoor amenity space in limited circumstances where, for example, there 
are benefits in bringing a vacant building back into use. The building is one of the largest 
vacant sites on Hawthorne Road and it’s boarded up shopfront and lack of windows means 
it is an eyesore in this area. For historical context the Council previously approved 
(S/2008/0292) the conversion of the building to 6 flats with just under 50sqm of useable 
outdoor space when a higher standard of 30sqm per flat was required. The justification in 
that instance was that the site was close to South Park.

In terms of outlook, prospect and light, it is considered that habitable rooms would have a 
good level of amenity consistent with local character and an improvement to initial 
proposals. Apartment 6 features a bedroom within the roof space. It is not possible to 
incorporate a window to the gable end due to the presence of a chimney breast. However 
three skylights would provide ample sunlight and the main living space below is served by 
two large windows which are considered to reduce the limited harm caused.

A scheme of enhanced soundproofing between the commercial elements of the scheme 
and proposed first floor flats can be secured by condition. Comments from the Housing 
Standards Manager in regard to fire safety can be addressed through Building 
Regulations. 

Impact on Neighbours

The proposal would lead to intensification of the historic patterns of residential occupation, 
however not to an unacceptable degree given the size of the building which has been 
proven as capable of accommodating seven flats. The roof terrace would be enclosed to a 
height of 1.8m to the rear and south-facing side to prevent overlooking. A shorter wall is 
proposed to front Ursula Street to reduce visual impact; it would not cause a significantly 
greater degree of overlooking than existing window to window distances across the street. 

The commercial uses would front Hawthorne Road and the applicant has confirmed 
proposed opening times for the retail unit and café/restaurant which are fairly modest 
(08:00-21:00). A condition can be attached controlling the hours of the A3 use given the 
greater possibility of late evening and night time disturbance than the smaller A1 unit. 
Appropriate soundproofing between residential components and neighbours can be 
achieved through Building Regulations.

Design and Impact on Street Scene

The property is understood to have remained vacant for at least a decade; its dilapidated 
appearance is a local eyesore. The redevelopment of the building is very much supported 
in that respect. The majority of alterations are simply to repair or replace existing features 
such as window openings and roof tiles. The new shopfronts at ground floor level would 
provide a fresh and modern enhancement; the extent of glass is consistent with a number 

Page 65

Agenda Item 5b



of existing units within the area. The roof terrace to the rear would partially fill an existing 
gap. The benefits of creating outdoor space also outweigh this consideration. 

Access and Highway Safety

The site is very accessible to public transport and parking-free development is acceptable 
to the Council’s Highways Manager. Sufficient on-street parking exists to accommodate 
visitors to the proposed commercial uses. A secure cycle store is provided within the rear 
yard separate from the outdoor amenity space.

Conclusion

Taking all of the above into account the proposal is considered acceptable; it provides a 
good standard of living for future residents despite the constrained nature of the site. The 
redevelopment and reuse of the site is sustainable development which would have a 
significant social, economic and environmental benefit on the immediate area which has 
some highly noticeable empty units. Overall the proposal complies with adopted local and 
national policy and is therefore recommended for approval. 

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions
Conditions

This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions 
and associated reasons:

1) The development hereby permitted must be commenced before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2) The development hereby granted must be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
following details and plans:- Drawing Number RR009/07 (Site and Location Plan 
Only) received on 16th January 2019, Proposed Section Through New Roof 
Construction received on 25th February 2019and RR009/02G (Proposed General 
Arrangement Layouts), RR009/04C (Proposed Elevations) and RR009/06C 
(Proposed Rear and Blind Side Elevation) received on 27th February 2019. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory development.

3) A scheme of sound insulation to protect the living conditions of future residents from 
noise associated with the ground floor commercial uses must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented before flats 4 and 5 are brought into use and be retained thereafter as 
such.

Page 66

Agenda Item 5b



Reason: To protect the future residents from unacceptable noise and disturbance.

4) A scheme of odour and smoke control for any kitchen extraction equipment to be 
installed must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved odour control scheme shall be implemented on site prior to 
the extraction system being brought into use and shall be retained thereafter.

Reason: To prevent the emission of fumes that would be detrimental to the amenity of 
the area.

5) A scheme of noise control for any plant and equipment to be installed must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme must be implemented before the plant and machinery is brought into 
operation and the approved noise control measures be retained thereafter.

Reason: To prevent the emission of noise above a level that would be detrimental to 
the aural amenity of the area.

6) The café/restaurant shall only occupy the area labelled Retail Area 1 on drawing 
RR009/02G and shall not be open for business outside the hours of 08:00-21:00 
Monday to Sunday.

Reason: In order to protect the living conditions of nearby residents.

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5b



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee  

Visiting Panel Schedule 
Date Monday 25th March 2019

Start:  10:00 am at BOOTLE TOWN HALL

Agenda 
Item Time Application Details Ward

4A 10:20am

DC/2018/02199
Land Rear Of 1 To 93
Runnells Lane, Crosby

L23 1XJ

Manor Ward

5A 10:20am

DC/2017/00434
Land North Of

Lydiate Lane, Thornton
L23 1XJ

Manor Ward

5B 10:45am
DC/2019/00049

18-20 Hawthorne Road, Bootle
L20 2DN

Derby Ward

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Planning 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 27 
March 2019

Subject: Planning Appeals

Report of: Chief Planning 
Officer

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Portfolio - Planning and Building Control

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:
To advise members of the current situation with regards to appeals.  Attached is a list of 
new appeals, enforcement appeals, development on existing appeals and copies of 
appeal decisions received from the Planning Inspectorate.

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the contents of this report be noted for information since the appeals decisions 
contained herein are material to the planning process and should be taken into 
account in future, relevant decisions.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To update members on planning and enforcement appeals

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
N/A

(B) Capital Costs
N/A

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
There are no resource implications 

Legal Implications:
There are no legal implications

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment:  Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5596/19) and Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer(LD4720/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into 
the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

(Please delete as appropriate and remove this text)

Contact Officer: Tina Berry
Telephone Number: 0345 140 0845 (Option 4)

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



Email Address: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Appeals extract from the back office system plus copies of any Planning Inspectorate 
decisions.

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available anywhere else on the internet 
can ben access on the Councils website www.sefton.gov.uk/planapps

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note that copies of all appeal decisions are available on our website: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/

Contact Officer: Mr Steve Matthews 0345 140 0845 (Option 4)

Email: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appeals Received and Decisions Made

Appeals received and decisions made between 18 February 2019 and 10 March 2019

Appeal Decisions

DC/2018/01421 (APP/M4320/D/18/3216575)

8A New Road Formby Liverpool L37 7EF 

Erection of single storey extensions to the rear and side of the 

dwellinghouse to include roof terrace

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

18/01/2019

04/03/2019

Dismissed

Reference:

New Appeals

DC/2018/02220 (APP/M4320/W/19/3222558)

The Blundellsands Classic 19 Blundellsands Road West Blundellsands Liverpool L23 6BA 

Replacement of existing white painted softwood timber 

windows and doors with new white UPVC windows and doors

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

26/02/2019

Reference:

DC/2018/01681 (APP/M4320/W/19/3220771)

Land West Of Damfield Lane Maghull  

Erection of 14 detached dwellinghouses, access road and 

associated landscaping, a pond feature and nature trail

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

19/02/2019

Reference:

DC/2018/01384 (APP/M4320/Z/18/3217680)

19 Liverpool Road Birkdale Southport PR8 4AR 

Advertisement Consent for the display of 4 internally mounted 

LED Screens to the lower ground floor windows and 4 

internally mounted graphics to the upper ground floor windows 

to the Liverpool Road elevation and 26 internally mounted 

graphics fixed to the ground floor windows to the Alma Road 

elevation

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Householder Appeal

21/02/2019

Reference:

DC/2018/01467 (APP/M4320/W/19/3221076)

139 Bispham Road Southport PR9 7BL 

Change of use of the area to the side of the existing cafe to 

create an outdoor eating area (Retrospective Application)

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

21/02/2019

Reference:

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



Appeals received and decisions made between 18 February 2019 and 10 March 2019

Page 76

Agenda Item 7



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 18 February 2019 

by A Parkin  BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 4 March 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/M4320/D/18/3216575 

8A New Road, Formby, Liverpool, Merseyside L37 7EF 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Ms Denise Chapman against the decision of Sefton Metropolitan 

Borough Council. 
• The application Ref DC/2018/01421, dated 24 July 2018, was refused by notice dated 

14 September 2018. 
• The development proposed is the erection of single storey extensions to the side and 

rear of the dwelling house to include a roof terrace. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters  

2. The description of the proposal on the application form does not include 

reference to the roof terrace, which is the principal dispute between the main 

parties.  I have therefore used the description of development taken from the 
appeal form in the banner heading above. 

3. The handwritten declaration on the submitted application form is unclear and 

refers to a date in October 2018, after the date the application was refused by 

the Council.  I therefore sought the views of the main parties on this matter.  

The Council provided a copy of an application form with a different declaration 
date on it - 24 July 2018, but substantially the same as the form submitted by 

the appellant in other respects1.  The appellant has confirmed their agreement 

to this date and I have therefore used this in the heading above.  

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the living 

conditions of the occupiers of the next door dwellings, in terms of overlooking 

and loss of privacy. 

Reasons 

5. The appeal building is a 2-storey gable fronted detached dwelling on the 

southern side of New Road, a residential street containing a mix of different 
housing types.  A double garage to the rear of Nos 8 and 8A is located within 

their rear gardens and is accessed by a single driveway between the two 

dwellings.  

                                       
1 The date for Certificate B also differs between the forms. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/M4320/D/18/3216575 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. The proposed development would extend an existing mono-pitched roof side 

extension on the western side of the building towards both the front and rear.  

This would be joined to a new single storey, flat roofed rear extension, 
containing a decked roof terrace at first floor level.  The submitted drawings 

show the extension and the terrace to be set away from the next door property 

boundaries by a short distance.  Obscure glazed screens would be installed on 

the side elevations of the roof terrace, with a clear glazed screen on the end 
elevation; the glazed screens would be some 0.8 metres high. 

7. From the information before me and my observations on site, the height, 

position and design of the proposed roof terrace would afford views into the 

rear garden of No 8B.  The terrace would also afford views into the rear 

windows of No 8B.  Views of the rear garden area of No 8 to the east would be 
partly blocked by the aforementioned double garage, and views of part of the 

rear garden area are already possible from the driveway between the 

dwellings.  Nevertheless, the proposed terrace would further increase 
overlooking of this rear space and would also afford views into side and rear 

windows of this dwelling.   

8. The obscure glazed side screens proposed for the roof terrace would not be 

sufficiently high to prevent harmful overlooking and consequent loss of privacy 

to the occupiers of neighbouring properties; the clear glazing to the end 
elevation would not restrict harmful overlooking at all. 

9. For the reasons given above, the proposed development would be harmful to 

the living conditions of the occupiers of the next door dwellings, in terms of 

overlooking and loss of privacy.  It would therefore conflict with Policy HC4 

(house extensions) of the Local Plan for Sefton 2017, and with the House 
Extensions Supplementary Planning Document 2018, and with the National 

Planning Policy Framework 2019, in this regard. 

Other Matters 

10. I note the appellant’s comments in relation to permitted development, the 

consultations that they have undertaken with the occupiers of next door 

properties and revisions to the appeal proposal prior to the refusal of planning 

permission.  None of these matters cause me to reach a different conclusion in 
relation to this appeal, which I have determined on the basis of the submitted 

information and with appropriate regard to the development plan and other 

material considerations, as set out above.      

11. I also note the appellant’s comments in relation to how the Council has dealt 

with their proposal, and that they have made a complaint in this regard.  These 
matters do not affect the appeal before me.  

Conclusion  

12. For the reasons given above, and taking all matters raised into account,  
I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.  

 

Andrew Parkin 

INSPECTOR 

Page 78

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 March 2019
	4a DC/2018/02199 - Land Rear of 1 To 93 Runnells Lane, Crosby
	5a DC/2017/00434 - Land North of Lydiate Lane, Thornton
	5b DC/2019/00049 - 18-20 Hawthorne Road, Bootle
	6 Visiting Panel
	7 Planning Appeals Report
	Enc. 1 for Planning Appeals Report
	appeals report - committee
	Appeal Decision 8a New Road Formby



